
va-Q-tec AG Annual Report 2022

C
on

so
lid

a
te

d
  

fi
na

nc
ia

l s
ta

te
m

en
ts

|  78 

3 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
VA-Q-TEC AG FOR THE 2022 FINANCIAL YEAR 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

kEUR Notes 2022
2021

restated*

 Revenues 7.1.1 111.833 104.063 

 Change in inventories – –421 2.846 

 Work performed by the company and capitalised  7.1.2 5.725 11.328 

 Other operating income  7.1.3 5.666 4.294 

 Total Income – 122.803 122.531 

Cost of materials and services  7.1.4 –46.701 –50.482 

Gross profit – 76.102 72.049 

Personnel expenses  7.1.5 –37.587 –33.191 

Other operating expenses  7.1.6 –30.779 –21.064 

EBITDA – 7.736 17.794 

Depreciation. amortization and impairment losses  7.1.7 –15.000 –13.655 

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) – –7.264 4.139 

Result from fair value valuation of investments – 530  – 

Finance Income – 6 6 

Finance expenses – –2.608 –2.252 

Net financial result  7.1.9 –2.602 –2.246 

Earnings before tax (EBT) – –9.336 1.893 

Income tax  7.1.10 –2.328 –485 

Net income – –11.664 1.408 

Consolidated net income attributable to owners  
of va-Q-tec AG – –11.664 1.408 

Earnings per share – basic  / diluted in EUR  7.1.11 –0.87 0.11 

* The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error corrections (see note 6.3)

Consolidated financial statements and notes | Consolidated income statement
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

kEUR Notes 2022
2021

restated*

Net Income – –11,664 1,408

Consolidated other comprehensive income – – –

Currency translation differences 7.2.2.1 –145 –145 

Derivative financial instruments (after tax) – 523 187 

Total other comprehensive income  
that will be reclassified to profit or loss – 378 42 

Consolidated total comprehensive income – –11,286 1,450 

Consolidated total comprehensive income  
attributable to owners of va-Q-tec AG – –0,87 0,11 

* The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error corrections (see note 6.3)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Assets

Assets kEUR
Konzern

anhang 31.12.2022
31.12.2021

angepasst*
01.01.2021

angepasst*

Non–current assets

 Intangible assets –  6,036  4,273  2,955 

 Property, plant and equipment –  80,645  82,649  69,636 

 Investment property –  1,020  1,020  1,614 

 Contract assets –  48  38  73 

 Other financial assets –  7,752  4,972  3,503 

 Other non–financial assets –  1,307  1,298  1,056 

 Deferred tax assets –  875  2,381  2,661 

 Total non–current assets –  97,683  96,631  81,498 

 Current assets 

 Inventories 7.2.1.6  18,838  18,469  11,615 

 Trade receivables 7.2.1.7  7,733  12,432  6,532 

 Other financial assets 7.2.1.4  6,734  2,380  927 

 Current tax assets  –  22  3 

 Other non–financial assets 7.2.1.5  2,145  5,168  1,549 

 Cash and cash equivalents 7.2.1.9  9,381  9,810  17,134 

 Non–current assets held for sale –  –  594  – 

 Total current assets –  44,831  48,875  37,760 

 Total assets –  142,514  145,506  119,258 

* The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error corrections (see note 6.3)

Equity and liabilities

Consolidated financial statements | Consolidated financial statements and notes
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 kEUR  Notes 31.12.2022
31.12.2021 
restated*

01.01.2021 
restated*

 Equity 7.2.2.1 – – –

 Issued share capital – 13,415 13,415 13,090 

 Treasury shares – –54 –54 –54 

 Additional paid–in capital – 54,020 54,020 46,158 

 Consolidated total other comprehensive income – 378  – –42 

 Retained earnings – –29,060 –17,396 –18,804 

 Total equity –  38,699  49,985  40,348 

 Non–current liabilities 

 Provisions 7.2.2.2  208  189  96 

 Bonds issued 7.2.2.3  –  23,362  22,064 

 Bank borrowings 7.2.2.4 25,319  23,451  25,170 

 Other financial liabilities 7.2.2.5  5,307  4,695  3,857 

 Other non–financial liabilities 7.2.2.6  4,753  6,790  6,426 

 Total non–current liabilities – 35,587  58,487  57,613 

 Current liabilities 

 Provisions 7.2.2.2  3,188  247  190 

 Bonds issued 7.2.2.3  24,821  –  – 

 Bank borrowings 7.2.2.4 12,180  13,741  3,919 

 Other financial liabilities 7.2.2.5  11,732  8,290  6,434 

 Liabilities from contracts with customers 7.2.2.7  65  189  40 

 Trade payables 7.2.2.8  7,130  8,628  5,978 

 Tax liabilities –  973  63  44 

 Other non–financial liabilities 7.2.2.6  8,139  5,876  4,692 

 Total current liabilities – 68,228  37,034  21,297 

Total Equity and liabilities  142,514  119,258  145,506  119,258 

* The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error corrections (see note 6.3)

Consolidated financial statements and notes | Consolidated statement of financial position
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASHFLOW

kEUR� Notes 7.3 2022
2021

restated*

Cash flow from operating activities

Net income –11,664 1,408

Current income taxes recognised income statement 1,040 145

Income taxes paid –24 –23

Net finance costs recognised income statement 2,602 2,246

Interest received 4  – 

Interest paid –2,320 –1,967

Depreciation on contract assets 5 62

Non–cash gain from fair value valuation of investments –530  – 

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 15,000 13,656

Gain/loss from disposal of non–current assets –2,166 38

Change in other assets –998 –5,338

Change in other liabilities 4,644 5,065

Change in provisions 2,957 148

Other non–cash expenses or income –1,200 –2,107

Cash flow from operating activities before working capital changes 7,350 13,333

Change in inventories –366 –6,561

Change in trade receivables 4,993 –5,690

Change in trade payables –2,296 2,198

Net cash flow from operating activities 9,681 3,280

Cash flow from investing activities

Payments for investment in intangible assets –3,495 –2,874

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 2,359 759

Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment –8,272 –22,080

Proceeds from disposal of non–current assets 759  – 

Payments for investments in contract assets –15 –27

Net cash flow from investing activities –8,664 –24,222

* The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error corrections (see note 6.3)

Consolidated financial statements and notes | Consolidated statement of cashflow
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Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from issuing shares  – 8,495

Payments for share issue costs  – –442

Proceeds from bank loans 30,960 21,149

Repayments of bank loans –30,711 –13,114

Proceeds from government grants 1,294 428

Payments for leases liabilities –3,100 –2,945

Net cash flow from financing activities –1,557 13,571

Change in cash and cash equivalents before exchange rate effects –540 –7,371

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 111 47

Net change in cash and cash equivalents –429 –7,324

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 9,810 17,134

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 9,381 9,810

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

kEUR
Issued share 

capital
Treasury 

shares

Additional 
paid–in 
capital

Retainede
arings

01.01.2021 (as reported) 13.090 –54 46.158 –17.896

Adjustment on correction of error (net of tax) – – – –908

01.01.2021 (restated1) 13.090 –54 46.158 –18.804

Net income (restated1) – – – 1.408

Consolidated other comprehensive income – – – –

Consolidated total comprehensive income (restated1) – – – 1.408

Issue of treasury shares 325 – 8.170 –

Share issue related costs – – –308 –

31.12.2021 (restated1) 13.415 –54 54.020 –17.396

01.01.2022 13.415 –54 54.020 –17.396

Net income – – – –11.664

Consolidated other comprehensive income – – – –

Consolidated total comprehensive income – – – –11.664

31.12.2022 13.415 –54 54.020 –29.060

Consolidated financial statements and notes | Consolidated statement of cashflow
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kEUR
Cumulative other comprehensive 

income

Equity 
attributable to 

parent 
company 

owners Total equity

Currency 
translation 

reserves

Derivative 
financial 

instruments

01.01.2021 (as reported) 103 –145 41.256 41.256

Adjustment on correction of error (net of 
tax)  –  – –908 –908

01.01.2021 (restated*) 103 –145 40.348 40.348

Net income (restated*)  –  – 1.408 1.408

Consolidated other comprehensive income –145 187 42 42

Consolidated total comprehensive income 
(restated*) –145 187 1.450 1.450

Issue of treasury shares  –  – 8.495 8.495

Share issue related costs  –  – –308 –308

31.12.2021 (restated*) –42 42 49.985 49.985

01.01.2022 –42 42 49.985 49.985

Net income  –  – –11.664 –11.664

Consolidated other comprehensive income –145 523 378 378

Consolidated total comprehensive income –145 523 –11.286 –11.286

31.12.2022 –187 565 38.699 38.699

* The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error corrections (see note 6.3)

Consolidated financial statements and notes | Consolidated statement of changes in equity
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4 GENERAL INFORMATION
4.1 INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY

The company va-Q-tec AG, which has its headquarters 
at Alfred–Nobel–Strasse 33, 97080 Würzburg, 
Germany, is entered in the commercial register of 
Würzburg under commercial register sheet number 
7368. Along with va-Q-tec AG itself, the consolidated 
financial statements of va-Q-tec AG also include its 
subsidiaries (hereinafter also referred to as “va-Q-tec”, 
the “va-Q-tec Group” or the “company”). va-Q-tec 
is a technologically leading provider of highly efficient 
products and solutions in the thermal insulation area. 
The company develops, produces and markets 
innovative products for reliable and energy–efficient 
temperature control and insulation – vacuum 
insulation panels (“VIPs”) and phase change materials 
(“PCMs”). Furthermore, va-Q-tec produces passive 
thermal packaging systems (containers and boxes) 
through optimally combining of VIPs and PCMs. To 
implement temperature–sensitive logistics chains, 
va-Q-tec offers, within a global partner network, the 
rental of containers and boxes that meet demanding 
thermal protection standards. Along with Healthcare 
& Logistics as the main market, va-Q-tec addresses 
the following further markets: Appliances & Food, 
Technics & Industry, Building, and Mobility.

These consolidated financial statements of va-Q-tec 
for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December  
2022 were approved for publication by the Management 
Board on 26 April 2023.

4.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

va-Q-tec AG is the ultimate parent company of the 
va-Q-tec Group and consequently prepares the 
consolidated financial statements for the smallest 
and largest group of companies. va-Q-tec prepares 
its consolidated financial statements as of 
31 December 2021, in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by 
the EU, and the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB. 
The term IFRS also comprises all still valid International 
Accounting Standards (IAS) as well as all 
interpretations and amendments of the International 
Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations 
Committee (IFRS IC) – formerly the International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 

(IFRIC) – and of the former Standing Interpretations 
Committee (SIC). 

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared by the Management Board on a going concern 
basis in accordance with IAS 1.25 f. As of the 31 
December 2022 balance sheet date, the company fell 
short of the minimum equity ratios agreed with banks, 
but the financing partners waived their right to call in 
the financial liabilities; to this extent, the company’s 
financing and going concern status are not at risk. 
Please see the more detailed disclosures in the notes 
under “8.5 Events after the balance sheet date”.

These consolidated financial statements were 
prepared on the basis of historical cost. Exceptions 
to this include derivative financial instruments and 
investments that were recognized at fair value on the 
reporting date. The corresponding note is provided as 
part of the respective accounting policies.

Historical cost is generally based on fair value, which 
represents the consideration rendered in exchange 
for the asset.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 
an asset or be paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. This applies irrespective of 
whether the price is directly observable, or has to be 
estimated by applying a valuation method.

The fair value that is to be determined for certain 
disclosures and calculation methods is not always 
available as a market price. Frequently, it has to be 
calculated on the basis of various measurement 
parameters. Depending on the availability of 
observable parameters and the significance of such 
parameters for fair value measurement overall, the 
fair value is allocated to one of the levels 1, 2 or 3 (fair 
value hierarchy). This allocation is implemented on 
the following basis:

•	 Level 1 inputs comprise quoted prices (unadjusted) 
on active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
to which va-Q-tec can access at the measurement 
date.

•	 	Level 2 inputs comprise inputs other than Level 1 
quoted prices, for which the value of the asset or 
liability is either directly observable, or can be 
derived indirectly from other prices.
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•	 	Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability.

As a rule, the Group classifies assets and liabilities 
as current if they will be realized or settled 
prospectively within twelve months after the reporting 
date. If assets and liabilities comprise both a current 
and a non–current element, they are divided into their 
term components and reported as current and non–
current assets or liabilities in accordance with the 
balance sheet structure. 

The consolidated income statement is prepared 
according to the nature of expense method. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in thousands of euros (kEUR), which is both the 
functional and the reporting currency of va-Q-tec. 
Differences of up to one unit (EUR, %) relate to 
arithmetic rounding differences.

4.3 EFFECTS OF NEW ACCOUNTING 
STANDARDS

The va-Q-tec Group has applied uniform accounting 
methods for all the periods presented in its IFRS 
consolidated financial statements. These comply with 
IFRS entailing mandatory application in the EU in the 
2022 financial year.

The accounting policies applied correspond to those 
applied in the previous year, as a matter of principle. 

The following new standards and interpretations or 
amendments to existing standards and interpretations 
required mandatory application for financial years 
commencing from 1 January 2022, and were applied 
for the first time by the company.

Standard Title

Mandatory 
application for 
financial years 

commencing 
from

Amendments 
to IFRS 1, 
IFRS 9, IFRS 
16 and IAS 41

Annual 
Improvements to 

IFRSs – 2018–2020 
Cycle 01/01/2022

Amendments 
to IFRS 3

Reference to the 
Conceptual 

Framework 2018 01/01/2022

Amendments 
to IAS 16

Proceeds before 
Intended Use 01/01/2022

Amendments 
to IAS 37

Onerous Contracts – Cost 
of Fulfilling a Contract 01/01/2022

All new accounting policies presented in the table did 
not have a material effect on the consolidated 
financial statements.

The following standards and interpretations and 
amendments to existing standards and interpretations 
were approved by both the IASB and the EU, and come 
into force for financial years commencing after 
1 January 2023. The company has not applied these 
regulations early.

Standard Title

Mandatory 
application for 
financial years 

commencing 
from

IFRS 17

Insurance Contracts, 
including amendments 

to IFRS 17 and 
amendments to IFRS 

17 Insurance 
Contracts: First–time 

Adoption of IFRS 17 
and IFRS 9 

Comparative 
Information 01 / 01 / 2023

Amendments 
to IAS 1 and 
IFRS Practice 
Statement 2

Disclosure of 
Accounting Policies 01 / 01 / 2023

Amendments 
to IAS 8

Definition of 
Accounting Estimates 01 / 01 / 2023

Amendments 
to IAS 12

Deferred Tax related 
to Assets and 

Liabilities arising from 
a Single Transaction 01 / 01 / 2023

All standards listed are applied by va-Q-tec only from 
the date of mandatory first–time adoption.

va-Q-tec recognizes deferred tax assets and 
liabilities in relation to rights of use and lease liabilities 
on a net basis. In accordance with the amendments 
to IAS 12, the Group will recognize a separate deferred 
tax asset and deferred tax liability. As of 31 December 
2022, the taxable temporary difference relating to the 
right–of–use asset amounts to kEUR 6,451 (note 
7.2.1.2) and the deductible temporary difference 
relating to the lease liability amounts to kEUR 6,603 
(note 7.2.2.5), resulting in a net deferred tax asset of 
kEUR 16 (note 7.1 .10). In accordance with the 
amendments, the Group will recognize a separate 
deferred tax liability of kEUR 1,213 and a deferred tax 
asset of kEUR 1 ,229. The application of the 
amendments will have no effect on retained earnings.
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For the 2023 financial year, the other amendments 
listed will not have any material impact on accounting 
and measurement.

The following standards will become effective in the 
forthcoming years, but have not yet been endorsed 
by the EU:

Standard Title

Mandatory 
application for 
financial years 

commencing 
from

Amendments 
to IAS 1

Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or 

Non–current — 
Deferral of Effective 

Date and clarification 
regarding 

classification of 
liabilities with ancillary 

conditions as non–
current or current 01 / 01 / 2024

Amendments 
to IFRS 16

Lease Liability in a 
Sale and Leaseback 01 / 01 / 2024

The company is currently examining the potential 
effects on va-Q-tec’s consolidated financial 
statements from standards or amendments to 
standards that have not yet been endorsed by the EU.

4.4 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 
ESTIMATES 

In applying the accounting policies, the Group’s 
management has made discretionary decisions that 
affect the amounts reported in the consolidated 
financial statements. Accordingly, assumptions and 
estimates are to be made to a certain extent when 
preparing consolidated financial statements that 
affect the amount and the reporting of recognized 
assets and liabilities, income and expenses, and 
contingent liabilities in the reporting period. 

The assumptions and estimates are based on premises 
that in all cases reflect the currently available status 
of information at the time of each case. The expected 
future business trend also particularly reflects the 
circumstances prevailing at the time when the 
consolidated financial statements were prepared, as 
well as a realistically imputed future trend in the 
environment. As a consequence of developments in 
these overall conditions differing from the management’s 
assumptions and lying outside its sphere of influence, 

the resultant amounts can differ from the originally 
expected estimated values. In 2022, the business 
activities of va-Q-tec AG continued to be influenced 
by the very dynamic development of the Covid–19 
pandemic and, in addition, by Russia’s war against 
Ukraine, which began in February 2022, and its 
farreaching consequences, which also had a 
significant impact on the assumptions and estimates 
made in the reporting period. Due to the ongoing war 
in Ukraine, the Management Board assumes that 
future assumptions and estimates will also be 
influenced by developments in relation to this topic, 
whereas the significance of the pandemic for future 
business trends is expected to diminish further. This 
uncertainty in relation to estimates could have a 
significant impact on the financial position and 
performance in subsequent years.

The estimates and assumptions that are applied are 
presented in the notes to the individual items of the 
statement of financial position and income statement 
in section 3 “Accounting policies”. The main effects 
impacting the amounts arise in the following areas:

•	 Determining useful economic lives for intangible 
assets and for property, plant and equipment, 
including assets leased as part of finance leases.

•	 Assessment of the lease term and determination 
of the relevant discount rate for the accounting 
treatment of leases and assessment of sale–and–
leaseback agreements.

•	 Impairment testing of assets based on appraisal 
of identifiable risks.

•	 Impairment testing of deferred tax assets in 
relation to tax loss carryforwards.

•	 Assessing the derecognition criteria of trade 
receivables as part of factoring agreements.

•	 Estimating market yield curves as part of 
measuring derivative financial instruments.

•	 Best possible estimate of the most probable 
settlement amount as part of the recognition and 
measurement of provisions.

•	 Best possible estimate of the event probability and 
the settlement amount in the context of the 
accounting and measurement of litigation risk.

•	 Assessing any requirement to separate, and 
measuring, embedded derivatives.

•	 Recognition of additional costs during the period 
of initiation of contracts with customers.

•	 Determination of the expected credit loss using 
the simplified approach for trade receivables and 
contract assets.
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5 CONSOLIDATION
5.1 CONSOLIDATION SCOPE

The consolidation scope is derived by applying IFRS 10 (Consolidated Financial Statements). In the consolidated 
financial statements of va-Q-tec AG as of 31 December 2022, the following subsidiaries were fully consolidated:

Name Headquarters
Equity interest 

31 / 12 / 2022
Equity interest 

31 / 12 / 2021

va-Q-tec Limited (UK) Rochester, UK 100 % 100 %

va-Q-tec Inc. (USA) East Rutherford, NJ, USA 100 % 100 %

va-Q-tec Ltd. (Korea) Joong–gu, Incheon, Republic of Korea 100 % 100 %

va-Q-tec Switzerland AG 
(Switzerland) Zürich, Schweiz 100 % 100 %

va-Q-tec Japan G.K. (Japan) Tokyo, Japan 100 % 100 %

va-Q-tec Uruguay S.A. (Uruguay) Montevideo, Uruguay 100 % 100 %

va-Q-tec SG PTE. Ltd. (Singapore) Singapore 100 % 100 %

va-Q-tec India Ltd. (India) New Delhi, India 100 % 100 %

va-Q-tec do Brasil Ltda. (Brasil) Sao Paulo, Brazil 100 % 100 %

va-Q-tec Shanghai Ltd. – (China) Shanghai, China 100 % 0 %

va-Q-tec Austria GmbH – (Austria) Salzburg, Austria 100 % 0 %

va-Q-tec France SARL – (France) Paris, France 100 % 0 %

va-Q-tec AG and its subsidiaries together form the 
va-Q-tec Group. Please see the segment reporting 
for key financial information about the subsidiaries. 
No significant restrictions exist on the Group’s ability 
to access or utilize assets and to settle liabilities.

5.2 CONSOLIDATION SCOPE CHANGES AND 
OTHER ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

In January 2022, va-Q-tec established a subsidiary 
in Shanghai, China. va-Q-tec Thermal Solutions 
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd., is intended to establish a stronger 
local presence to support commercial activities in 
China. In the future, the new location will act as a 
central hub for va-Q-tec’s rental business and as a 
fulfillment station.

Furthermore, va-Q-tec founded subsidiaries in 
Salzburg, Austria, and in Paris, France, in March and 
December 2022. The commercial activities in Europe 
are to be strengthened with the company va-Q-tec 
Austria GmbH and va-Q-tec France SARL. No 
significant revenues have been generated with the 

new company to date, and there has been no 
significant impact on earnings.

The interest in SUMTEQ GmbH of 15.00 % (previous 
year: 15.00 %) and in ING3D GmbH of 15.00 % 
(previous year: 15.00 %) are recognized at fair value 
under financial assets. These companies exert no 
significant influence companies on va-Q-tec AG.

5.3 CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

The consolidated financial statements are based on 
uniform accounting principles. The annual financial 
statements of the companies included in the 
consolidation scope were adjusted where required in 
order to align them with the accounting policies 
applied in the Group. All of the annual financial 
statements of the companies included in the 
consolidated financial statements are prepared on 
the basis of the reporting date of the consolidated 
financial statements.
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Subsidiaries are those companies where the Group 
holds existing rights that endow it with the current 
capability to manage the companies’ relevant 
activities. Relevant activities are those activities that 
significantly affect the companies’ profitability. For 
this reason, control exists if the Group is exposed to 
variable returns from its relationship to a company, 
and as a consequence of its power over the relevant 
activities it has the capability to influence these 
returns. In the va-Q-tec Group, the ability of control 
is based in all cases on a direct voting majority held 
by va-Q-tec AG. Inclusion of companies in the 
consolidated financial statements of va-Q-tec AG 
begins on the date from which the possibility of 
control exists. It ends if such control ceases.

As part of capital consolidation (consolidation of the 
investment account), the carrying amounts of the 
participating interests are offset with the subsidiary’s 
proportional equity. As all subsidiaries comprise 
companies that va-Q-tec has founded, initial 
consolidation has not resulted in any differential 
amount.

Intragroup transactions are fully adjusted. This entails 
the offsetting of significant receivables, liabilities and 
provisions between the consolidated companies, and 
the elimination of intercompany profits and losses. 
Intragroup revenues are offset with the corresponding 
expenses. Tax deferrals required pursuant to IAS 12 
are applied to any temporary differences on 
consolidation.

5.4 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the functional currency 
concept. The functional currency of va-Q-tec AG is 
the primary currency of the economic environment in 
which the va-Q-tec Group operates. This corresponds 
to the euro, which also corresponds to the reporting 
currency for the consolidated financial statements. 
The functional currency of the subsidiaries in the USA, 
South Korea, Switzerland, Japan, Singapore and India 
is in each case the national currency, as these 
subsidiaries conduct their business independently in 
their respective markets. The functional currency of 
the UK company corresponds to the euro. The 
functional currency of the subsidiary in Uruguay is 
the US dollar.

In the financial statements of each Group company, 
business transactions denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated into the functional currency 
applying the rates valid on the transaction date. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated applying the rate prevailing 
on each reporting date. Non–monetary assets and 
liabilities measured at cost are translated at the 
exchange rate prevailing on the date when they are 
initially recognized on the statement of financial 
position. The foreign currency gains and losses arising 
from these translations are recognized in the 
consolidated income statement under other operating 
income or other operating expenses.

To prepare the consolidated financial statements, the 
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries 
whose functional currency is not the euro are 
translated into euros applying the exchange rates on 
the reporting date. Income and expenses are 
translated at the average rate for the period, unless 
translation exchange rates during the period are 
subject to sharp fluctuations. In such cases, the 
exchange rates on the transaction date would be 
applied. Translation differences from the translation 
of foreign operations into the Group currency are 
recognized under consolidated other comprehensive 
income, and accumulated within equity.
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The exchange rates into euros for the significant currencies in the Group applied for the translation are presented 
in the following table:

Closing rate Average rate

31 / 12 / 2022 31 / 12 / 2021 2022 2021

British pound  0.8869  0.8403  0.8526  0.8600 

US dollar  1.0666  1.1326  1.0539  1.1835 

South Korean won  1.344.0900  1.346.3800  1.358.0628  1.353.9181 

Swiss Francs  0.9847  1.0331  1.0052  1.0814 

Japanese Yen  140.6600  130.3800  138.0027  129.8548 

Singapore–Dollar  1.4300  1.5279  1.4520  1.5896 
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6 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
6.1 CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Revenues
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when 
an asset is transferred and the customer obtains 
control of the asset, a transaction price has been 
agreed or can be determined, and payment is 
probable. Sales revenues from services are recognized 
to the extent that the service has been rendered, and 
the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably. 
Payments for unreturned thermal boxes in connection 
with rental services rendered are reported as revenue. 
Rebates, bonuses, VAT and other taxes associated 
with the service are deducted from sales revenues. 
All reported revenues represent revenues from 
contracts with customers.

Sales revenues are recognized at the transaction price 
of the consideration received or to be received, and 
reflect the amounts that are to be received for goods 
and services as part of ordinary business activity. 

Sector–typical payment terms with customers not 
include any significant financing components. 
Warranty obligations under contracts between the 
company and its customers do not constitute 
separate performance obligations and are recognized 
as a provision.

With regard to the opening and closing balances and 
impairments of receivables from contracts with 
customers, we refer to the notes on trade receivables. 
For the composition of revenues by business segment, 
please refer to the notes on revenues, and for the 
composition by region please refer to the segment 
reporting.

Net financial result
Interest income and interest expenses reported under 
the net financial result are deferred and accrued in 
accordance with their respective terms, taking the 
outstanding loan sum and the applicable interest rate 
into account. The effective interest method is applied 
in this context. 

Income taxes 
The expense for taxes on income represents the sum 
of current income tax expense and deferred tax. The 
current income tax expense is calculated on the basis 
of taxable income for the year. Taxable earnings differ 

from the earnings before tax reported in the 
consolidated income statement, as these do not 
include income and expense items that were taxable 
or tax–deductible in other years, as well as items on 
which no tax is generally incurred, or which are 
generally not tax–deductible. 

Deferred taxes are recognized in accordance with the 
balance sheet liability method as presented in IAS 12 
(Income Taxes). This entails forming deferred tax items 
for temporary differences between tax valuations and 
valuations on the consolidated balance sheet, as well 
as for tax loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are 
only taking into consideration if it is probable that the 
corresponding tax benefits will also be realized. Loss 
carryforwards for which deferred tax assets have been 
formed are expected to be utilized within the five–year 
planning period. The carrying amount of deferred tax 
assets is reviewed each year on the reporting date, 
with an impairment loss being applied if it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable income will be 
available to fully or partially realize the asset.

Deferred tax liabilities are formed for taxable 
temporary differences arising from interests in 
subsidiaries, unless the Group can control the reversal 
of the temporary differences, and it is probable that 
the temporary difference will not reverse within the 
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
offset to the extent that they relate to the same 
taxpayer, and exist in relation to the same tax 
authority.

To measure deferred tax, future years’ tax rates are 
applied if the related legislation has already been 
enacted, or the legislative process has essentially 
been concluded. Deferred taxes are recognized in 
profit or loss, as a matter of principle. To the extent 
that the charges or reliefs underlying deferred taxes 
are carried directly to equity, the formation or release 
of deferred taxes also occurs directly in equity.

Earnings per share
Earnings per share (basic earnings per share) are 
calculated on the basis of IAS 33 (Earnings Per Share). 
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing 
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the after–tax profits attributable to the parent 
company shareholders by the weighted average 
number of shares in issue during the financial year 
under review. At the end of the financial year under 
review, as in the previous year, only ordinary shares 
were issued, so that the consolidated net income does 
not have to be allocated to different classes of shares. 
Diluted earnings per share are not shown separately 
as, as in the previous year, no potentially diluting 
instruments were outstanding as of 31 December 2022. 

6.2 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

6.2.1 Assets

Intangible assets 
Pursuant to IAS 38, intangible assets are capitalized 
if a future economic benefit is expected from 
utilization of the asset, and the costs of the asset 
can be calculated reliably. 

Individually purchased intangible assets are 
recognized at purchase cost on initial recognition, 
and intangible assets that the company has generated 
itself are recognized at production cost. In subsequent 
periods, intangible assets are measured at cost 
less cumulative amortization and any cumulative 
impairment losses. Research costs are expensed in 
the period in which they are incurred. 

Intangible assets with limited useful life are amortized 
straight–line over their useful life, and impairment–
tested as soon as any indications emerge that they 
might have become impaired. The estimated useful 
life and amortization method are reviewed at the end 
of the annual reporting period, and any changes to 
the estimated value are taken into account in 
subsequent measurement. Amortization is based on 
the following useful lives:

Software 3 – 5 years

Internally generated  
intangible assets 3 – 6 years

Gains or losses on the derecognition of intangible 
assets are calculated as the difference between net 
disposal proceeds and the asset’s carrying amount, 
and recognized in profit or loss within other operating 

income or other operating expenses in the period in 
which the asset is derecognized. 

An intangible asset arising from internal development 
(or the development phase of an internal project) is 
recognized if the corresponding criteria of IAS 38.57 
are shown to have been met. Capitalized production 
costs of internally generated intangible assets 
comprise costs directly attributable to the development 
process, and development–related overheads.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are utilized for business 
purposes, and measured at cost less cumulative 
depreciation and cumulative impairment losses. 

The purchase costs of an item of property, plant and 
equipment comprise all costs attributable to the 
purchase of the asset. Repair and maintenance 
charges are expensed in the income statement in the 
financial year in which they are incurred. Internally 
generated assets are initially measured at directly 
attributable production cost plus production–related 
overheads.

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a so–called 
qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset are 
capitalized as part of cost pursuant to IFRS.

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated 
straight–line in accordance with its type of use and 
duration of use. Property, plant and equipment is 
depreciated straight–line in accordance with its type 
of use and duration of use. Property, plant and 
equipment is depreciated straight–line in accordance 
with its type of use and duration of use. Depreciation 
is based mainly of the following useful lives:

Buildings, outdoor and other facilities

Buildings 33 –40 years

Outdoor and other facilities 5 –20 years

Production equipment and machinery

Production plants 8 –21 years

Other production equipment and 
machinery 3 –25 years

Operating and office equipment 3 –15 years

Container fleet 5 years

Box fleet 2 –5 years
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If any indications of impairment exist, property, plant 
and equipment are tested for potential impairment 
accordingly.

Gains or losses arising from the disposal or 
derecognition of an item of property, plant and 
equipment are calculated as the difference between 
disposal proceeds and the asset’s carrying amount, 
and recognized in profit or loss among other operating 
income or other operating expenses.

Investment property
Investment property comprises land and buildings 
held to generate rental income and for the purposes 
of value appreciation, rather than being utilized for 
the company’s own production, to deliver goods or 
render services, for administrative purposes or for sale 
as part of ordinary operating activities. Investment 
property is measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

If indications of impairment exist, investment property 
is tested for potential impairment accordingly. 

Contract assets
Contract assets include development costs that do 
not already meet the criteria for capitalization in 
accordance with other standards. These are primarily 
customer–specific developments that are performed 
during the contract initiation period, are directly 
related to an expected contract, and are expected to 
recover the related costs. Firstly, such costs are 
incurred for the modification or qualification of 
products from the company’s existing product range 
according to customer–specific requirements, and, 
secondly, for the implementation of va-Q-tec 
products or services into the customer’s processes. 
In addition, these costs create new or improve existing 
resources for the company that will be used for the 
future fulfillment of performance obligations.

Additional costs for customer–specific developments 
during the contract initiation. for which the 
amortization period would not exceed one year are 
expensed immediately. 

Capitalized contract assets are amortized 
simultaneously with the transfer of the goods or 
services to which the contract assets relate.

Impairment testing
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives, as well 
as intangible assets that are not yet ready for 
utilization, are not amortized, but are instead tested 
annually for impairment. Assets that are amortized 
are impairment–tested where an indication exists 
that the asset’s carrying amount may no longer be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized 
equivalent to the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs to sell, and its value in 
use. The value in use in this context is calculated on 
the basis of the estimated future cash flows from the 
utilization and disposal of the asset, applying the 
discounted cash flow method. A pre–tax interest rate 
in line with market conditions is applied as the 
discounting rate in this context. If no recoverable 
amount can be calculated for an individual asset, the 
recoverable amount is calculated for the smallest 
identifiable group of assets (cash–generating unit) 
to which the respective asset can be allocated.

If the reasons for the impairment loss no longer apply 
at a later date, a reversal of the impairment loss is 
realized up to the level of the new recoverable amount, 
as a matter of principle. Such reversals of impairment 
losses are limited to the amortized carrying amount 
that would have arisen without the impairment loss 
applied in the past.

No indicators of potential impairment were identified. 
Accordingly, no impairment losses or reversals of 
impairment losses pursuant to IAS 36 were applied in 
either the period under review, or in the previous year.

Leases Leasing
Leases comprise all agreements that transfer the 
right to use a specific asset for a fixed period of time 
in return for payment. This also applies to contracts 
where the transfer of such a right is not expressly 
described. As a lessee, va-Q-tec uses real estate and 
vehicles, in particular.

Group as lessee
Based on the opportunities and risks associated with 
a leased asset, an assessment was made until 
31 December 2018 as to whether economic ownership 
of the leased asset was attributable to the lessee 
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(so–called finance leases) or the lessor (so–called 
operating leases) in accordance with IAS 17.

In the case of an operating lease, the lease instalments 
or rental payments were expensed straight–line in the 
income statement. Assets accounted for under a 
finance lease are recognized at the inception of the 
lease at the lower of the present value of the lease 
payments or the fair value of the leased property 
or  equipment, and, in subsequent periods, less 
accumulated depreciation and other accumulated 
impairment losses. Depreciation was calculated 
applying the straight–line method, taking into 
account the asset’s residual value. The payment 
obligations resulting from the future lease installments 
were discounted and carried under financial liabilities.

As of 1 January 2019, the Group as lessee generally 
recognizes rights of use for leased assets in property, 
plant and equipment and liabilities for payment 
obligations entered into at present values under other 
financial liabilities. The leasing liabilities include the 
following leasing payments:

•	 fixed payments, including de facto fixed payments, 
less lease incentives still to be paid by the lessor,

•	 variable payments linked to an index or interest 
rate,

•	 expected amounts that are likely to be paid due 
to residual value guarantees,

•	 the exercise price of a purchase option, if exercise 
is considered sufficiently certain, and

•	 contractual penalties for terminating the lease, if 
the assumed term of the lease takes into account 
that a termination option is exercised.

Lease payments are discounted at the marginal 
borrowing rate. The interest rate is calculated on the 
basis of the risk–free reference interest rate, taking 
into account the term of the leases in the relevant 
Group currency (in EUR thousands) plus a risk premium 
corresponding to va-Q-tec’s rating. If necessary, 
country– and currency–specific adjustments to the 
base rate are applied. The risk premium is structured 
uniformly throughout the Group, as no significant 
differences in credit risk exist within the Group. In 
the  financial year under review, leasing–specific 
adjustments were not necessary as, for example, 
collateral had no material impact on the interest rate. 
Changes in leases and revaluations of lease liabilities 
are generally recognized directly in equity against the 
right of use. The lease is recognized in the income 

statement if the carrying amount of the right of use 
has already been reduced to zero, or if it derives from 
a partial or early termination of the lease.

The right to use the leased asset was capitalized in 
proportion to the lease liability. At the start of the 
lease, the value of the right of use corresponds to the 
present value of the corresponding lease liability. In 
subsequent periods, the right of use is measured at 
amortized cost. The Group also conducts impairment 
tests if corresponding indicators exist.

The Group utilizes the relief provisions of IFRS 16 for 
short term leases (leases with terms of less than 
12 months) and low value assets. A benchmark of 
kEUR 5 is applied for low–value assets. Payments 
from leasing obligations with a term of no more than 
twelve months are expensed at the time of payment 
in accordance with the option. In addition, va-Q-tec 
does not generally present the leasing and service 
components separately from one another in 
accordance with the option offered by the standard.

Sale–and–finance–leaseback transactions
As part of sale–and–finance–leaseback transactions, 
until 31 December 2018 the Group sold containers to 
leasing companies, and then leased them back. As 
a result of the leaseback, the Group re–assumed 
all  significant risks and rewards connected with 
ownership, and classified the lease as a finance lease. 
The revenues from these sale–and–finance–
leaseback transactions were eliminated in full. As all 
containers are produced and leased back via sale–
and–finance–leaseback transactions in the same 
period, the related additions from own work performed 
by the enterprise and capitalized were offset with the 
same disposals of equal amount, and reported under 
changes to the cost of the container fleet under 
property, plant and equipment. Initial recognition of 
the finance lease asset was according to the general 
regulations of IAS 17, and resulted in a capitalization 
of the leased asset and the corresponding liability.

The excess of the cash accruing to va-Q-tec (sales 
price) resulting from the sale of containers over the 
carrying amount or the own work capitalized could 
not be recognized immediately in profit or loss in the 
case of sale–and–finance–leaseback transactions, 
but was instead recognized on the liabilities side of 
the balance sheet under non–financial liabilities as 
deferred income (special item for deferred container 
profits). This deferred income is released through 
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profit or loss over the 5–year lease duration, and 
reported under other operating income in the 
consolidated income statement. The existing special 
item will be released by 31 August 2023.

Since 1 January 2019, a sale–and–leaseback 
transaction must first be examined on the basis of 
the criteria of IFRS 15 to determine whether the 
transfer of an asset constitutes a sale. If the transfer 
of an asset does not meet the requirements for 
accounting for a sale as set out in IFRS 15, the asset 
continues to be recognized, and the proceeds received 
are recognized as a financial liability, in accordance 
with IFRS 9. 

Group as lessor 
The Group acts as lessor in operating leases. This 
concerns the rental of containers and boxes to third 
parties that is of a short–term nature as a rule. As 
part of these leases, the opportunities and risks 
associated with ownership are not transferred to the 
lessee, with the consequence that the leased 
containers and boxes are reported under non–current 
assets. Revenues from rentals are presented within 
revenues. Income from the temporary rental of 
premises not continuously used by the company is 
reported in other operating income.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realizable value. When calculating purchase costs, 
ancillary purchase costs are added, and purchase 
price reductions are deducted. Production costs 
include direct materials and manufacturing costs, as 
well as the production–related share of fixed and 
variable overheads. Net realizable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The 
loss–free valuation entails applying inter alia 
discounts accounting for marketability. 

Non–current assets held for sale
The Group classifies non–current assets or disposal 
groups as held for sale if their carrying amount will 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. In this case, the 
assets or disposal groups are no longer depreciated 
or amortized, but are instead measured at the lower 
of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
Immediately prior to classification as held for sale, 
assets are tested for impairment using the applicable 

specific rules. In the event of a subsequent increase 
in fair value less costs to sell, the impairment loss 
is  reversed; this is limited to the impairment loss 
previously recognized for the asset or disposal group.

Financial instruments and financial assets
Financial assets comprise especially receivables and 
cash. Recognition and measurement is performed 
in  accordance with IFRS 9. Financial assets are 
recognized if the Group is contractually entitled 
to receive cash or other financial assets from third 
parties. Purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognized as of the settlement date, as a matter of 
principle. Financial assets are initially recognized at 
fair value, plus transaction costs where relevant. 
Transaction costs of financial assets that are 
measured at fair value through profit or loss are 
expensed. Subsequent measurement is performed in 
accordance with allocation to the categories of 
financial assets pursuant to IFRS 9.

The classification and measurement of financial 
assets is based, firstly, on the so–called cash flow 
condition (exclusively cash flows from interest and 
capital repayments) in accordance with the specific 
form of the contractually agreed cash flows from an 
individual financial asset. Secondly, this also depends 
on the business model according to which portfolios 
of financial assets are managed. va-Q-tec’s business 
model for managing portfolios of financial assets 
reflects how the company manages its financial assets 
to generate its cash flows. Depending on the business 
model, cash flows arise from the receipt of contractual 
cash flows, the sale of financial assets, or both.

On the basis of these criteria, va-Q-tec applies the 
following valuation categories for financial assets:

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include 
all assets whose contractual provisions result in cash 
flows at specified dates that exclusively represent 
interest and principal payments on the outstanding 
principal amount in accordance with the cash flow 
condition of IFRS 9, provided that such assets are 
held with the intention of receiving the contractual 
cash flows expected over their respective terms. Trade 
receivables, receivables included among other 
financial assets, and cash and cash equivalents are 
allocated to this measurement category. These assets 
are initially measured at fair value. This is regularly 
equal to the transaction price at the time of 
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acquisition. Subsequent measurement through profit 
or loss is based on the effective interest method.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
include all financial assets whose cash flows are not 
collected via sale or that do not represent exclusively 
interest and principal payments in accordance with 
the cash flow condition established in IFRS 9. Changes 
to the fair values of financial assets in this category, 
including derivative financial instruments, are 
expensed. The gain or loss arising from measuring 
derivative financial instruments is expensed under 
the net financial result, unless the derivative is 
included as a hedging instrument as part of the 
hedge (hedge accounting), and is effective as such. 
In the year under review as well as in the previous 
year, no hedging transactions were carried out for 
financial assets.

Pursuant IFRS 9, individual financial assets are tested 
for potential impairment on each reporting date. If 
any objective indications of impairment exist, an 
impairment loss is expensed equivalent to the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of its expected future cash flows, 
and recognized within a separate impairment account. 
If the level of the impairment reduces in subsequent 
periods due to events that have occurred objectively 
after the date when the impairment was recognized, 
the impairment is reversed in the equivalent amount 
through profit or loss. Impaired receivables are 
derecognized if they are assessed as uncollectible. In 
accordance with IFRS 9, the simplified approach is 
also applied to the determination of expected credit 
losses on trade receivables, and expected credit 
losses are recognized as an impairment loss over the 
entire term of the receivable. The Group also applies 
the simplified approach to contract assets.

The Group derecognizes a financial asset if the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from an asset 
expire, or it receives rights to receive cash flows 
in a transaction in which all significant risks and 
opportunities connected with the ownership of the 
financial asset are also transferred. A portion of such 
transferred financial assets that originate or remain 
within the Group is recognized as a separate asset 
or separate liability.

6.2.2 Equity and liabilities

Equity
Equity comprises cash and non–cash capital 
contributions that substantiate a residual interest in 
the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities. Equity instruments are recognized at the 
issue proceeds received, less directly attributable 
transaction costs. Transaction costs comprise costs 
that would not have been incurred without the issue 
of the equity instrument. These are deducted from 
additional paid–in capital taking all tax effects into 
account. The consolidated statement of changes in 
equity presents the development of the consolidated 
equity of the va-Q-tec Group for the 2022 and 2021 
financial years.

Treasury shares
va-Q-tec applies the cost method to recognize the 
treasury shares it acquired for the first time in 2016, 
whereby the costs to purchase the treasury shares 
are reported within a separate item within equity. 

Share–based payment
The company currently has no arrangements for 
equity–settled share–based payment transactions 
with employees. The “Other disclosures” section 
provides further information about share–based 
payment within the va-Q-tec Group.

Government grants
A government grant is not recognized until reasonable 
assurance exists that the company will comply with 
the conditions attaching to it, and that the grant will 
be received. They are recognized in profit or loss in 
the period in which the Group bears the corresponding 
expenses that are to be offset by the grants. 
Government grants whose most important condition 
is the purchase, construction or other type of 
acquisition of long–term assets are recognized as 
non–financial liabilities on the statement of financial 
position. They are released through profit or loss 
within other operating income based on the 
corresponding asset’s useful life. In 2022, va-Q-tec AG 
received kEUR 1,294 of public grants to purchase 
non–current assets (previous year: kEUR 428).
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Provisions
Provisions are reported if a current legal or constructive 
obligation has arisen for the Group from a past event 
that is likely to result in a future outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits, and the level of this 
obligation can be estimated reliably. 

The amount recognized as a provision corresponds 
to the best possible estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the current obligation as of the 
reporting date, whereby risks and uncertainties 
connected with the obligation are taken into account. 
All significant cost factors are included in the 
measurement of provisions. If the interest effect is 
material, non–current provisions with a remaining 
term of more than one year are reported at the 
discounted settlement amount as of the balance 
sheet date. If it is to be expected that the economic 
benefit required to settle an obligation for which a 
provision has been formed will be reimbursed wholly 
or partly by third parties, the receivable is recognized 
as an asset if it is as good as certain that the 
reimbursement will occur, and the level of the receivable 
can be measured reliably.

Provisions for warranties are formed on the date when 
the respective goods are sold, or the corresponding 
services are rendered. The level of the provision is 
based on historical trends, and an estimate of future 
warranty cases.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities comprise mainly bank borrowings, 
trade payables, and other financial liabilities. They are 
measured at fair value on initial recognition, and 
subsequently – except derivative financial instruments 
measured at fair value – at amortized cost applying 
the effective interest method, less directly attributable 
transaction costs where relevant.

To hedge foreign currency risks, certain derivative 
financial instruments are assigned to fixed obligations 
agreed in foreign currencies as hedging instruments 
in order to hedge the associated risk. These derivative 
financial instruments are recognized at fair value as 
other financial liabilities. The effective portion of 
changes in the fair value of derivative financial 
instruments designated as cash flow hedges and 
qualifying for hedge accounting in accordance with 
IFRS 9 is recognized directly in equity. Any ineffective 
portion of the change is recognized in profit or loss. 
The amount recognized in equity is recognized in the 

consolidated income statement in the period in which 
the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Liabilities from contracts with customers 
Contract liabilities are recognized for advance 
payments received from customers prior to contractual 
performance, as well as for liabilities arising from 
bonus agreements with customers. Upon fulfillment 
of the performance obligations, contractual liabilities 
for prepayments received are recognized as revenue. 

6.3 ERROR CORRECTIONS IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH IAS 8

A UK subsidiary of va-Q-tec AG rents TempChain 
containers worldwide, which are usually rented and 
used for international air freight transports. Customers 
are typically airlines, freight forwarders and 
manufacturing companies. An international tax 
consulting firm was engaged to analyze tax and 
customs issues, and it was determined that the 
company was not fully tax compliant in several 
countries. The reason for the error was the company’s 
assumption that the international air freight transport 
services performed or contracted would be tax–
exempt or subject to a 0 % tax rate. The tax consulting 
company was also commissioned to quantify these 
risks and to limit possible errors or omissions and, if 
necessary, to correct them through subsequent 
reporting.

For example, in the most important market, the USA, 
it was assumed that most customers could provide 
the company with a Sales Tax Exemption Certificate 
in order to avoid the levying of sales tax. Due to the 
parallel development of the US business and the very 
dynamic revenue growth of the TempChain division 
in 2021, a tax provision was already formed in the 
2021 annual financial statements. It was not until the 
middle of 2022 that va-Q-tec became aware of the 
full extent in the USA and other affected countries, 
as well as the amount of potential arrears payments 
for taxes and duties, due to the further investigations 
by the tax advisors commissioned, as well as due to 
the low number of Tax Exemption Certificates received 
from its customers and the reporting thresholds 
exceeded in several federal states as a consequence.

The final tax and duty risks determined as of the 
balance sheet date with the support of the tax 
consulting firm amount to kEUR 2,395. As a 
consequence, it has emerged that the provision 
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formed in the previous year was too low and that 
previous years are also affected. The error, including 
the tax effects, was corrected retrospectively by 
adjusting the respective items in the prior years’ 
financial statements accordingly. The formation of 
provisions for the previous year was also corrected 
retrospectively, including in the disclosure. 

In addition, it was determined in 2022 that no provision 
had been formed at some subsidiaries of va-Q-tec AG 
for the variable compensation of employees earned 
and agreed for the 2021 financial year in the amount 

of kEUR 206. As a consequence, personnel expenses 
in 2021 were understated and earnings were 
overstated. The variable compensation for 2020 was 
also incorrectly reported in 2021; this has also been 
corrected. The error, including the tax effects, was 
corrected retrospectively by adjusting the respective 
items in the prior years’ financial statements 
accordingly.

The following tables summarize the effects on the 
consolidated financial statements:

Consolidated statement of financial position

1 January 2021 Adjustments on correction of error

Assets
kEUR as reported adjustments restated

Deferred tax assets 2,471 190 2,661

Other 116,597 – 116,597

Total Assets 119,068 190 119,258

Other non-current non-financial liabilities 5,425 1,001 6,426

Other current financial liabilities 6,434 – 6,434

Other non-current non-financial liabilities 4,595 97 4,692

Other 61,358 – 61,358

Total Liabilities 77,812 1,098 78,910

Retained earnings –17,896 –908 –18,804

Other 59,152 – 59,152

Total Equity 41,256 –908 40,348
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31 December 2021 Adjustments on correction of error

Assets
kEUR as reported adjustments restated

Deferred tax assets 2,040 341 2,381

Other 143,125 – 143,125

Total Assets 145,165 341 145,506

Other non-current non-financial liabilities 4,628 2,162 6,790

Other current financial liabilities 8,888 –598 8,290

Other non-current non-financial liabilities 5,437 439 5,876

Other 74,565 – 74,565

Total Liabilities 93,518 2,003 95,521

Retained earnings –15,734 –1,662 –17,396

Other 67,381 – 67,381

Total Equity 51,647 –1,662 49,985

Consolidated statement of compehensive income

1 January - 31 December 2021 Adjustments on correction of error

kEUR as reported adjustments restated

Total Income 122,531 – 122,531

Cost of materials and services –50,754 272 –50,482

Personnel expenses –33,082 –109 –33,191

Other operating expenses –19,996 –1,068 –21,064

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses –13,655 – –13,655

Net financaial result –2,246 – –2,246

Income tax –636 151 –485

Net income 2,162 –754 1,408

Consolidated net income attributable to owners of 
va-Q-tec AG 2,162 –754 1,408

Consolidated net incoame attributable to non-controlling 
interests – – –

Earnings per share - basic in EUR 0,16 –0,06 0,11

Earnings per share - diluted in EUR – – –
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

1 January - 31 December 2021 Adjustments on correction of error

kEUR as reported adjustments restated

Net income 2,162 –754 1,408

Current income taxes recognised in income statement 145 – 145

Income taxes paid –23 – –23

Change in other liabilities 4,160 905 5,065

Other non-cash expenses or income –1,956 –151 –2,107

Other non-cash expenses or income 8,845 – 8,845

Cash flow from operating activities before working 
capital changes 13,333 – 13,333

Working capital changes –10,053 – –10,053

Net cash flow from operating activities 3,280 – 3,280

Net cash flow from investing activities –24,222 – –24,222

Net cash flow from financing activities 13,571 – 13,571

Net cash flows before exchange rate effects –7,371 – –7,371

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash 
equivalents 47 – 47

Net change in cash and cash equivalents –7,324 – –7,324

 Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 17,134 – 17,134

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 9,810 – 9,810
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7 NOTES
7.1 CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

7.1.1 Revenues

The revenues are composed as follows: 

kEUR 2022 2021

Products  22,297  22,032 

Systems  35,046  36,379 

Services  52,090  44,090 

Other  2,400  1,562 

Group, total  111,833  104,063 

The Products business comprises the production and 
sale of vacuum insulation panels and heat storage 
components. These products are sold in the following 
sectors: Healthcare & Logistics, Appliances & Food, 
Technics & Industry, Building, and Mobility. Revenues 
in the Products business increased minimally by 1 % 
compared to the previous year’s level, which was in 
line with the Management Board’s expectations.

The Systems business comprises the sale of thermal 
packaging to customers in the Healthcare & Logistics 
sector. Lower demand for vaccine shipments mainly 
affected revenues from the sale of systems, which 
decreased by 4 % compared with the previous year.

The Services business comprises the container and 
box rental business for the transportation of 
temperature–sensitive goods, predominantly 
products from the pharmaceuticals and biotech 
sectors as well as for the semiconductor, chemicals 
and food manufacturing industries. Compared to the 
previous year, the positive revenue trend was 
successfully continued with 18 % growth. Overall, 
va-Q-tec benefited from a broadening of its customer 
base, particularly in the area of airfreight thermal 
containers, as well as a sharp increase in the number 
of small thermal box rentals for “last mile” transports. 
These “last–mile transports” had still recorded 
significant reductions in revenue in the previous year 
due to the decreased number of clinical trials in the 
wake of the coronavirus crisis. Other revenues are 
generated through thermal consulting and 
government–subsidized research projects.

Overall, the 7 % revenue growth compared to the 
previous year fell short of expectations. This was 
mainly due to the significant decline in demand for 
vaccine shipments, which could not be fully 
compensated by the revenue growth of va-Q-tec’s 
regular business, especially in a challenging 
macroeconomic environment in the 2022 financial 
year. The revenues of the Services division also include 
compensation payments from customers for thermal 
boxes unreturned within the rental network in an 
amount of kEUR 1,954 (previous year: kEUR 672). 
Please refer to the section on segment reporting for 
more information. 

Remaining benefit obligations as of the reporting 
date are immaterial and in no case extend beyond an 
original term of maximum one year. For this reason, 
no further disclosures are made in accordance with 
IFRS 15.

7.1.2 Work performed by the company and 
capitalized

The following table shows the trend in work performed 
by the company and capitalized in the 2022 and 2021 
financial years. Due to the very strong expansion of 
the container and box rental business in 2021, which 
was mainly driven by Covid–19 vaccine business, the 
investment volume in this area was again significantly 
reduced in 2022.

kEUR 2022 2021

Work performed by the 
company and capitalised 
arising from expansion of 
rental–container–fleet  2,789  6,960 

Work performed by the 
company and capitalised 
arising from expansion of 
rental–boxes–fleet  1,615  2,688 

Other work performed by the 
company and capitalised  1,321  1,680 

Group, total  5,725  11,328 

Of the total research and development costs of 
kEUR 4,528 incurred in 2022 (previous year: 
kEUR 3,653), a total of kEUR 398 (previous year: 
kEUR 358) meet IFRS capitalization criteria and are 
reported under other own work capitalized. The other 
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research and development costs were recognized in 
the corresponding items of the consolidated income 
statement, mainly under personnel expenses. Other 
own work capitalized derives from the capitalization 
of internally generated software and own work in the 
construction and commissioning of new plant and 
machinery.

7.1.3 Other operating income

in kEUR 2022 2021

Exchange rate gains  2,442  1,167 

Income from release of 
special item for deferred 
container profits  979  1,651 

Income from release of 
special item for grants  603  413 

Income from subtenancy / 
leasing agreements  441  441 

Gains on fixed asset 
disposals  378  87 

Income from private use of 
company vehicles  210  171 

Income from other 
accounting periods  206  99 

Other income  407  265 

Group, total  5,666  4,294 

Other operating income of kEUR 5,666 (previous year: 
kEUR 4,294) resulted primarily from foreign currency 
exchange gains, scheduled and continuous reversals 
of the special item sale–and–finance–leaseback 
transactions, income from the reversal of the special 
item for government grants, income from the leasing 
of parts of buildings and land in Würzburg, as well as 
income from the reimbursement for the private use 
of company vehicles, gains from asset disposals, and 
income not relating to the period under review. 
Miscellaneous other operating income also includes 
income from the reversal of impairment losses on 
expected credit losses on receivables that did not 
materialize in the amount of kEUR 68 (previous year: 
expense from impairment losses due to expected 
credit losses on receivables of kEUR 27, see notes 
7.2.1.7 and 7.6) and income from feed–in tariffs for 
photovoltaic systems in the amount of kEUR 24 
(previous year: kEUR 21). Income from subleases/
leases is expected to amount to kEUR 441 per year 
in subsequent years until 2026.

7.1.4 Cost of materials and services

kEUR 2022
2021

restated*

Cost of raw materials  
and supplies  26,348  31,430 

Cost of purchased services  20,353  19,052 

Group, total  46,701  50,482 

* �The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error 
corrections (see note 6.3)

The cost of materials, including the cost of purchased 
services, decreased from kEUR 50,482 in the previous 
year to kEUR 46,701 (–7 %), mainly as a consequence 
of lower revenues in the material–intensive Systems 
business, which led to a reduction in the cost of 
materials ratio of three percentage points to 38 % 
(previous year: 41 %). Along with costs for raw 
materials and for purchased services, the cost of 
materials and services includes especially logistics 
services in the container rental business. The increase 
in energy costs in the overall environment was offset 
by lower material costs due to inventories accumulated 
before the price increases. The cost of purchased 
services includes expenses from short–term leasing 
agreements of kEUR 70 (previous year: kEUR 64).

7.1.5 Personnel expenses

The following table shows the trend in personnel 
expenses in the 2022 and 2021 financial years:

kEUR 2022
2021

restated*

Wages and salaries  31,161  27,791 

Social security contributions  6,426  5,400 

Group, total  37,587  33,191 

* �The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error 
corrections (see note 6.3)

Personnel expenses changed in absolute terms from 
kEUR 33,191 in the previous year to kEUR 37,587 in the 
2022 reporting period; the percentage increase of 
13 % was higher than the increase in total revenues 
and resulted in the personnel expense ratio rising by 
four percentage points to 31 %. The absolute increase 
is mainly due to growth–related new hires at the 
subsidiaries of va-Q-tec AG as well as salary updates 
of personnel hires from 2021. Social security 
contributions contain mainly employer contributions 
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to statutory social security. A defined contribution 
pension scheme exists as part of German statutory 
pension insurance for employees in Germany, to which 
the va-Q-tec Group is required to make payments 
at the contribution rate prevailing during the period 
under review of 9.3 % (previous 9.3 %) (employer 
component) of pension compensation. The 
contributions rendered amounted to kEUR 1,932 in 
the reporting year (previous year: kEUR 1,815). In 
addition, va-Q-tec AG rendered contributions of 
kEUR 226 (previous year: kEUR 126) to direct 
insurance as part of its company pension scheme. 
Moreover, a defined contribution pension plan exists 
at the majority of the subsidiaries, which was 
expensed as follows: 

kEUR 2022 2021

va-Q-tec Ltd. (UK)  117  85 

va-Q-tec Inc. (USA)  54  46 

va-Q-tec Ltd. (Korea)  18  17 

va-Q-tec Japan G.K. (Japan)  29  30 

va-Q-tec SG PTE. Ltd. (Singapore)  40  32 

va-Q-tec India Ltd. (Indien)  12  – 

va-Q-tec Shanghai Ltd. – (China)  9  – 

As a consequence, kEUR 2,468 (previous year: 
kEUR 2,167) of expenses for defined contribution 
pension plans were recognized. 

Wages and salaries for the 2022 financial year again 
do not include any costs from granting options to 
staff (previous year: kEUR 0). See section 8.3 of the 
notes to the the consolidated financial statements 
for more information about share–based payment.

The average number of employees in the 2022 and 
2021 financial years is presented below:

2022 2021

Male employees 435 425

Female employees 181 166

Group, total  616  591 

The number of employees, including Management 
Board members, managing directors, apprentices and 
trainees, amounted to 649 (previous year: 625).

7.1.6 Other operating expenses

kEUR 2022
2021

restated*

Legal, patents and 
consulting costs  12,106  4,526 

Freight  4,894  5,352 

Marketing and 
sales  2,895  1,902 

Repair and 
maintenance  2,123  1,818 

Rent, leasing and 
other facility costs  1,540  1,442 

Exchange rate 
losses  1,517  422 

Subsequent 
payment sales 
taxes  1,299  1,068 

IT and other office 
costs  1,152  1,139 

Insurance and 
contributions  1,027  919 

Other personnel 
expenses  909  1,008 

Supervisory Board 
compensation  231  221 

Waste disposal  169  204 

Lab expenses  106  273 

Other  811  770 

Group, total  30,779  21,064 

* �The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error 
corrections (see note 6.3)

Other operating expenses increased by 46 % to 
kEUR 30,779 in the 2022 reporting period (previous 
year: kEUR 21,064). In addition to general inflation, 
this was mainly due to the very sharp rise in energy 
costs as a consequence of the Ukraine war, continued 
very high freight costs for air and sea freight as a 
consequence of the pandemic, advisory costs 
(including for the COOL 2022 project), foreign 
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exchange losses, and a renewed increase in marketing 
and sales activities compared with previous years. 
The items for rent, leasing and incidental costs for 
buildings include expenses from leasing contracts 
with a term of less than 12 months in the amount of 
kEUR 224 (previous year: kEUR 254), as well as kEUR 7 
(previous year: kEUR 5) for low–value assets. Other 
expenses include, among other items, expenses not 
relating to the period under review of kEUR 31 
(previous year: kEUR 109) and expenses from asset 
disposals of kEUR 213 (previous year: kEUR 40). 
Impairment losses of kEUR 44 (previous year: income 
of kEUR 13 from the reversal of impairment losses on 
trade receivables, see notes 7.2.1.7 and 7.6) are included 
in other expenses.

7.1.7 Depreciation, amortization and impairment 
losses

Depreciation and amortization charges of kEUR 15,000 
were expensed in the 2022 financial year (previous 
year: kEUR 13,655). The depreciation on rights of use 
under leases included in this item amounted to 
kEUR 3,815 in the financial year under review (previous 
year: kEUR 4,936). No impairment losses or reversals 
of impairment losses occurred in either of these 
financial years. 

7.1.8 Result from fair value measurement of 
investments 

va-Q-tec holds a 15.00 % interest in each of the 
unlisted companies Sumteq GmbH and ING 3D GmbH. 
Prices quoted on an active market do not exist for 
the interests in these two investments. Based on 
valuations in connection with capital measures under 
negotiation, together with measurements performed 
(Level 2 in accordance with IFRS 13), a need arose to 
increase the fair value of both the interest in Sumteq 
GmbH by kEUR 375 (previous year: kEUR 0) and the 
interest in ING3D by kEUR 155 (previous year: kEUR 0). 

7.1.9 Net financial result

kEUR 2022 2021

Interest income  5  – 

Income from derivative 
financial instruments  1  6 

Financial income  6  6 

Interest expense –2,435 –2,094 

Interest expense from 
finance lease –173 –158 

Financial expenses –2,608 –2,252 

Net financial result –2,602 –2,246 

The increase in interest expenses is mainly due to the 
interest incurred in the financial year under review on 
the bond issued in November 2020.

7.1.10 Income taxes

kEUR 2022
2021

restated*

Actual tax expense  
(tax income)  1,040 146 

Current period 983 142 

Prior periods 57 4 

Deferred tax expense  
(tax income) 1,288 339 

Group, total 2,328 485 

* �The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error 
corrections (see note 6.3)

Deferred tax is calculated applying tax rates that are 
valid or expected to be valid based on current 
legislation in the individual countries as of the 
realization date. 
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The tax reconciliation account explains the connection 
between the expected tax expense and the actually 
reported tax expense, which derives from the IFRS 
consolidated result before income tax, applying a 
30.3 % income tax rate (previous year: 30.3 %). In each 

case, the income tax rate applied corresponds to the 
average domestic tax rate of va-Q-tec AG comprised 
of corporation tax (plus the solidarity surcharge) and 
trade tax.

kEUR 2022
2021

restated*

Consolidated earnings before tax –9,336 1,893

Expected income tax expense 30,3 % 30,3 %

Expected income tax expense (tax income) –2,828 573

Tax–free income –184 –184

Non–tax–deductible operating expenses 266 110

Non–capitalised deferred taxes on temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards 4,847 347

Not recognised deferred taxes for current income/loss (IAS 12.15b) 19 177

Effects from tax rate changes  – –179

Utilisation of non–capitalised loss carryforwards  – –45

Reported tax expense 56 –4

Divergent foreign tax rates –5 –392

Other effects 157 82

Reported tax expense (tax income) 2,328 485

* �The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error corrections (see note 6.3)

The amount of deferred tax recognized directly in equity is composed as follows:

2022 2021

kEUR
Before 

tax
Deferred 

tax
After  

tax
Before 

tax
Deferred 

tax
After  

tax

Equity transaction costs offset  
in additional paid–in capital – – – –442 134 –308

Proportional reimbursement  
of equitytransaction costs  
by previous shareholders – – – – – –

Effect on additional 
paid–in capital – – – –442 134 –308
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The following overview shows to which balance sheet items the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities 
are to be allocated: 

kEUR

Deferred tax 
assets 

31 / 12 / 2022

Deferred tax 
liabilities 

31 / 12 / 2022

ASSETS

Intangible assets  –  830 

Property, plant and equipment  2,381  1,495 

Contract assets  –  14 

Interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates  –  – 

Non–current financial assets  18  97 

Inventories  568  77 

Trade receivables  –  – 

Other current financial assets  55  – 

Other current non–financial assets  –  – 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  

Non–current provisions  –  – 

Non–current bank liabilities  –  – 

Other non–current financial liabilities  273  – 

Other non–current non–financial liabilities  206  357 

Current provisions  24  5 

Current bank liabilities  –  – 

Trade payables  –  – 

Other current financial liabilities  160  – 

Other current non–financial liabilities  65  – 

Loss carryforwards  –  – 

Total before offsetting  3,750  2,875 

Offsetting –2,875 –

As reported  875 –
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kEUR

Deferred tax 
asstes 

31 / 12 / 2021

Deferred tax 
liabilities 

31 / 12 / 2021
restated*

ASSETS

Intangible assets  –  782 

Property, plant and equipment  2,613  1,288 

Contract assets  –  11 

Interests in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates  –  – 

Non–current financial assets  18  56 

Inventories  328  34 

Trade receivables  –  – 

Other current financial assets  –  – 

Other current non–financial assets  –  – 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Non–current provisions  –  – 

Non–current bank liabilities  –  5 

Other non–current financial liabilities  189  – 

Other non–current non–financial liabilities  289  129 

Current provisions  105  7 

Current bank liabilities  –  5 

Trade payables  –  – 

Other current financial liabilities  119  – 

Other current non–financial liabilities  293  – 

Loss carryforwards  744  – 

Total before offsetting  4,698  2,317 

Offsetting –2,317  –

As reported  2,381  –

* �The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error corrections (see note 6.3)

Deferred tax assets are only recognized if such tax 
benefits can be realized. This entails taking into 
account all currently known positive and negative 
factors affecting future taxable results. Of the 
deferred tax assets, kEUR 1,115 (previous year: 
kEUR 1,426) are attributable to individual companies 
that have incurred tax losses in either the current 
reporting period or in the previous period. Due to the 
largely positive business trend, the Group generally 
assumes that its deferred tax assets can be utilized. 
Extensive investments in personnel, technology and 
capacities are being realized especially at the 
production company (va-Q-tec AG) and in the 
container service business (va-Q-tec Ltd. (UK)). These 

investments are prerequisites for growth. Sustained 
profitability is assumed in the medium term, thereby 
allowing the deferred tax assets to be utilized.

As of 31 December 2022, tax loss carryforwards for 
which no deferred taxes were capitalized increased 
to kEUR 36,520 (previous year: kEUR 15,898). These 
tax loss carryforwards are mainly distributed among 
the subsidiaries in Uruguay and Singapore, the USA 
and the German parent company. In 2022, income 
taxes of kEUR 736 (previous year: 23) were recognized 
at the UK subsidiary due to the profit generated in 
the financial year under review, as all tax loss 
carryforwards were consumed in the previous year 
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and a special tax write–down on investments was 
utilized. Taking into account a planned increase in tax 
rates, the special tax depreciation from investments 
in the previous year led to deferred tax liabilities of 
kEUR 980 (previous year: kEUR 815).

The tax loss carryforwards at all companies can be 
utilized on an unlimited basis. 

7.1.11 Earnings per share

The calculation of basic (undiluted) earnings per share 
is based on the earnings attributable to the holders of 
ordinary shares and a weighted average of the number 
of ordinary shares in issue. Earnings per share were not 
diluted in the past financial year as there are currently 
no dilutive share options in va-Q-tec in circulation.

Earnings per share are as follows:

Earnings per share 2022
2021

restated*

Consolidated  
net result (kEUR) –11,664 1,408 

Weighted average  
number of shares 13,401,434 13,109,824 

Earnings per share (in EUR) –0,87 0,11 

* �The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error 
corrections (see note 6.3)

Weighted average number of shares

in shares 2022
2021

restated*

Shares issued as 1 January  13,401,434  13,075,936 

Weighted average number 
of issued shares in 
November 2021 –  33,888 

Retrospective effect of 
capital increase from 
company funds (share 
split)  – –

Effect of purchase of 
treasury shares  – –

Weighted average  
number of ordinary  
shares (undiluted / basic)  /  
(diluted) as of  
31 December

 
13,401,434  13,109,824 

* �The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error 
corrections (see note 6.3)

Please refer to the remarks about equity in section 
7.2.2.1 for information about the composition of issued 
share capital.

7.2 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

7.2.1 Assets

7.2.1.1 Intangible assets 

Non–current assets

in kEUR

Aquisition and production cost

opening 
balance 

01 / 01 / 2022

exchange 
rate 

differences Additions
Reclassifi

cations Disposals
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

1. �Software and other  
purchased intangible asstes 3,510  – 914  –  1 4,423

2. �Internally generated  
intangible assests 4,473  – 934  –  231 5,176

3. �Internally generated intangible 
assests in production stage 317  – 1,609  –  – 1,926

Intangible assets, total 8,300  – 3,457  –  232 11,525



va-Q-tec AG Annual Report 2022

N
o

te
s

|  108 Consolidated financial statements and notes

Non–current assets

in kEUR

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses Carrying amount

Balance on 
01 / 01 / 2022

ex
change 

rate  
differ
ences

Deprecia
tion, 

amortisa
tion and 

impairment 
losses in 

the 
financial 

year
Reclassi
fications

Dispo
sals

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

1. �Software  
and other  
purchased 
intangible 
asstes 1,439  – 727  –  – 2,166 2,257 2,071

2. �Internally 
generated  
intangible 
assests 2,588  – 966  –  231 3,323 1,853 1,885

3. �Internally 
generated 
intangible 
assests in 
production 
stage  –  –  –  –  –  – 1,926 317

Intangible 
assets, total 4,027  – 1,693  –  231 5,489 6,036 4,273
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Non–current assets

in kEUR

Aquisition and production cost

opening 
balance 

01 / 01 / 2021

exchange 
rate 

differences Additions
Reclassifi

cations Disposals
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

1. �Software and other  
purchased intangible asstes 2,007 – 1,553 – 50 3,510

2. �Internally generated  
intangible assests 3,989 – 881 – 397 4,473

3. �Internally generated 
intangible assests in 
production stage 49 – 268 –  – 317

Intangible assets, total 6,045 – 2,702 – 447 8,300

Non–current assets

in kEUR

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses Carrying amount

Balance on 
01 / 01 / 2021

ex
change 

rate  
differ
ences

Deprecia
tion, 

amortisa
tion and 

impairment 
losses in 

the 
financial 

year
Reclassi
fications

Dispo
sals

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2020

1. �Software 
and other  
purchased 
intangible 
asstes 1,174 – 315 –  50 1,439 2,071 833

2. �Internally 
generated  
intangible 
assests 1,916 – 1,069 –  397 2,588 1,885 2,073

3. �Internally 
generated 
intangible 
assests in 
production 
stage  – –  – –  –  – 317  49 

Intangible 
assets, total 3,090 – 1,384 –  447 4,027 4,273 2,955

The additions to the internally generated intangible 
assets item include the company’s product and 
software development work, which it has capitalized.

In accordance with IAS 36, no impairment losses or 
reversals of impairment losses were recognized in the 
reporting period or in the previous year. 
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7.2.1.2 Property, plant and equipment 

Non–current assets

in kEUR

Aquisition and production cost

opening 
balance 

01 / 01 / 2022

exchange 
rate 

differences Additions
Reclassifi

cations Disposals
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

1. �Land and buildings 47,515 185 2,650 199 405 50,144

2. �Production equipment and 
machinery 27,098 4 2,090 6,127 124 35,195

3. �Other plant, operating and 
office equipment 16,591 86 3,644 –382 2,776 17,163

4. �Container fleet 37,146  – 2,998  – 6,888 33,256

5. �Plant under construction 6,734  – 1,045 –5,944 72 1,763

Property, plant and equipment, 
total 135,084 275 12,427  – 10,265 137,521

Non–current assets

in kEUR

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses Carrying amount

Balance on 
01 / 01 / 2022

ex
change 

rate  
differ
ences

Deprecia
tion, 

amortisa
tion and 

impairment 
losses in 

the 
financial 

year
Reclassi
fications

Dispo
sals

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

1. �Land and 
buildings 5,949 54 2,260  – 142 8,121 42,023 41,566

2. �Production 
equipment 
and 
machinery 13,368 –5 2,638  230 113 16,118 19,077 13,730

3. �Other plant, 
operating  
and office 
equipment 8,315 40 3,101  –230 1,878 9,348 7,815 8,276

4. �Container 
fleet 24,803  – 5,307  – 6,821 23,289 9,967 12,343

5. �Plant under 
construction  –  –  –  –  –  – 1,763 6,734

Property, plant 
and equipment, 
total 52,435 89 13,306  – 8,954 56,875 80,645 82,649
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Non–current assets

in kEUR

Aquisition and production cost

opening 
balance 

01 / 01 / 2021

exchange 
rate 

differences Additions
Reclassifi

cations Disposals
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

1. �Land and buildings 40,093 170 6,840 546 134 47,515

2. �Production equipment  
and machinery 24,043 2 2,894 171 12 27,098

3. �Other plant, operating and 
office equipment 13,229 86 5,466 11 2,201 16,591

4. �Container fleet 33,257  – 7,061  – 3,172 37,146

5. �Plant under construction 3,606  – 3,856 –728  – 6,734

Property, plant and 
equipment, total 114,228 258 26,117  – 5,519 135,084

Non–current assets

in kEUR

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses Carrying amount

Balance on 
01 / 01 / 2021

ex
change 

rate  
differ
ences

Deprecia
tion, 

amortisa
tion and 

impairment 
losses in 

the 
financial 

year
Reclassi
fications

Dispo
sals

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2020

1. �Land and 
buildings 4,165 55 1,789  – 60 5,949 41,566 35,928

2. �Production 
equipment 
and 
machinery 11,389  – 1,988 3 12 13,368 13,730 12,654

3. �Other plant, 
operating 
and office 
equipment 6,948 39 2,649 –3 1,318 8,315 8,276 6,281

4. �Container 
fleet 22,090  – 5,845  – 3,132 24,803 12,343 11,167

5. �Plant under 
construction  –  –  –  –  –  – 6,734 3,606

Property,  
plant and 
equipment, 
total 44,592 94 12,271  – 4,522 52,435 82,649 69,636
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Additions to property, plant and equipment resulted 
primarily from investment in the further expansion of 
the container fleet and in the build–up of the thermal 
box fleet for the global rental business, as well as in 
the expansion of production capacity in Würzburg 

and in Kölleda. The composition of the rights of use 
included in property, plant and equipment and the 
change in the rights of use in the reporting period is 
presented in the following table:

Non–current assets – right–of–use

in kEUR

Aquisition and production cost

opening 
balance 

01 / 01 / 2022

exchange 
rate 

differences Additions
Reclassifi

cations Disposals
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

1. �Land and buildings 5,424 179 2,504  – 405 7,702

2. �Production equipment and 
machinery 1,359  –  – –180  – 1,179

3. �Other plant, operating and 
office equipment 2,114 17 1,063 –31 598 2,565

4. �Container fleet 21,588  –  –  – 6,704 14,884

Property, plant and equipment, 
total 30,485 196 3,567 –211 7,707 26,330

Non–current assets – right–of–use

in kEUR

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses Carrying amount

Balance on 
01 / 01 / 2022

ex
change 

rate  
differ
ences

Deprecia
tion, 

amortisa
tion and 

impairment 
losses in 

the 
financial 

year
Reclassi
fications

Dispo
sals

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

1. �Land and 
buildings 1,618 53 1,125  – 142 2,654 5,048 3,806

2. �Production 
equipment 
and 
machinery 577  – 130  –100  – 607 572 782

3. �Other plant, 
operating  
and office 
equipment 1,010 12 675 –31 501 1,165 1,400 1,104

4. �Container 
fleet 19,623  – 1,885  – 6,704 14,804 80 1,965

Property, plant 
and equipment, 
total 22,828 65 3,815 –131 7,347 19,230 7,100 7,657
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Non–current assets – right–of–use

in kEUR

Aquisition and production cost

opening 
balance 

01 / 01 / 2021

exchange 
rate 

differences Additions
Reclassifi

cations Disposals
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

1. �Land and buildings 1,791 166 3,601  – 134 5,424

2. �Production equipment  
and machinery 1,359  –  –  –  – 1,359

3. �Other plant, operating and 
office equipment 1,952 14 690  – 542 2,114

4. �Container fleet 24,594  –  –  – 3,006 21,588

Property, plant and 
equipment, total 29,696 180 4,291  – 3,682 30,485

Non–current assets – right–of–use

in kEUR

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses Carrying amount

Balance on 
01 / 01 / 2021

ex
change 

rate  
differ
ences

Deprecia
tion, 

amortisa
tion and 

impairment 
losses in 

the 
financial 

year
Reclassi
fications

Dispo
sals

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2020

1. �Land and 
buildings 873 54 751  – 60 1,618 3,806 918

2. �Production 
equipment 
and 
machinery 448  – 129  –  – 577 782 911

3. �Other plant, 
operating 
and office 
equipment 810 10 605  – 415 1,010 1,104 1,142

4. �Container 
fleet 19,178  – 3,451  – 3,006 19,623 1,965 5,416

Property,  
plant and 
equipment, 
total 21,309 64 4,936  – 3,481 22,828 7,657 8,387

The rights of use include assets from finance leases 
with a net carrying amount of kEUR 80 (previous year: 
kEUR 1,965) attributable to the container fleet as of 
31 December 2022. Technical plant and machinery 
includes assets from finance leases with a net 
carrying amount as of 31 December 2021 of kEUR 573 
(previous year: kEUR 782). Further information about 

the liabilities arising from leases and the expenses 
and payments arising from leases is provided in Notes 
7.1.4, 7.1.6, 7.1.9, 7.2.2.5 and 7.3 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

As of the balance sheet date, assets under 
construction decreased significantly to kEUR 1,763 
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(previous year: kEUR 6,734) due to the lower 
investment volume in 2022 and many investments 
from 2021 completed during the year.

The following items of property, plant and equipment 
serve to collateralize financial liabilities:

•	 All buildings and land in Kölleda serve as collateral 
for long–term bank loans with a land charge 
total–ing kEUR 8,562 (previous year: kEUR 6,672). 

•	 The AN33 property in Würzburg serves as collateral 
for two long–term bank loans with a land charge 
of kEUR 14,300.

•	 The “Heuchelhof” buildings and land in Würzburg 
serves as collateral for two long–term bank loans 
with a land charge of kEUR 4,270.

•	 A production plant at the Kölleda site with a 
carrying amount of kEUR 573 (previous year: 
kEUR 782) serves as collateral for the financing 
from the bank and the leasing company. Of the 

company’s other technical plant and machinery, a 
proportion with a carrying amount of kEUR 13,701 
(previous year: kEUR 9,414) serves as collateral for 
long–term bank loans. 

•	 From the “Other equipment” category, assets 
amounting to kEUR 1 ,151 (previous year: 
kEUR 1,126) serve as collateral for the company’s 
long–term bank loans.

•	 The block–type thermal power station at the 
Würzburg site with a carrying amount of kEUR 452 
(pre–vious year: kEUR 527) was pledged as security 
for the bank’s long–term financing.

•	 The entire container fleet deriving from sale–and–
finance–leaseback and hire purchase transactions 
serve the leasing companies as collateral for the 
financing they grant.

In accordance with IAS 36, no impairment losses or 
reversals of impairment losses were recognized in the 
reporting period or in the previous year.

7.2.1.3 Investment property

Non–current assets

in kEUR

Aquisition and production cost

opening 
balance 

01 / 01 / 2022

exchange 
rate 

differences Additions
Reclassifi

cations Disposals
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

Investment Property 1,020  –  –  –  – 1,020

Carrying amount

in TEUR

Abschreibungen Buchwerte

Stand am 
01.01.2022

Kurs
differ
enzen 

Abschreib
ungen im 

Geschäfts
jahr 

Um
buch
ungen 

Ab– 
gänge

Stand am 
31.12.2022

Stand am 
31.12.2022

Stand am 
31.12.2021

Als Finanzinvestition 
gehaltene Immobilien – – – – – – 1,020 1,020

Non–current assets

in kEUR

Aquisition and production cost

opening 
balance 

01 / 01 / 2021

exchange 
rate 

differences Additions
Reclassifi

cations Disposals
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Investment Property 1,614 – – – 594 1,020
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Non–current assets

in kEUR

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses Carrying amount

Balance on 
01 / 01 / 2021

ex
change 

rate  
differ
ences

Deprecia
tion, 

amortisa
tion and 

impairment 
losses in 

the 
financial 

year
Reclassi
fications

Dispo
sals

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2020

Investment 
Property – – – – – – 1,020 1,614

In February 2017, a plot of land including warehouse 
adjacent to the plot of land that was already acquired 
in 2016 was purchased in Würzburg to construct an 
integrated production and administration site there. 
Due to a market opportunity arising short–term, a 
further large plot of land along with existing production 
and administrative buildings was acquired in April 
2017 in Alfred–Nobel–Strasse 33 in Würzburg, in order 
to use it to aggregate the Würzburg locations into a 
management, technology and logistics headquarters. 
The merger of the Würzburg locations was completed 
in 2018.

By contrast with the original planning, the undeveloped 
land plots acquired in 2016 are held for value 
appreciation purposes as of 31 December, as it is not 
yet certain what to what future utilization the land 
plots are to be allocated. The sale of part of the land 
was notarized in November 2021. Due to the still 
missing prerequisites for the transfer of ownership, 
the sale did not take place economically until February 
2022. As a consequence, this portion of the land was 
reported as “Non–current assets held for sale” under 
current assets as of the 31 December 2021 reporting 
date (see section 7.2.1 .10 of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements), which was 
recognized as a disposal, as planned, due to the sale 
realized in the financial year under review. The 
remaining land continues to be reported in the item 
“investment property” at the remaining carrying 
amount of kEUR 1,020 as of the reporting date. Due 
to the sale of a partial land plot completed in the 
reporting period, the prices currently obtainable on 
the market for land of this type, and contractual 
agreements with the City of Würzburg concerning 
buyback and resale options, the fair value of the land 
approximates the carrying amount reported. The fair 

value of investment property is measured in 
accordance with hierarchy Level 2 in the meaning of 
IFRS 13. 

Accordingly, no impairment losses pursuant to IAS 36 
were applied in the period under review.

7.2.1.4 Non–current and current financial assets

Other financial assets

kEUR 
Non–

current Current
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

Investments 4,130  – 4,130

Suppliers with 
debit 
balances  – 74 74

Deposits 281 56 337

Derivates 3,044  – 3,044

Receivables 
from factoring 
agreements  – 2,365 2,365

Miscellaneous 297 4,239 4,536

Group, total 7,752 6,734 14,486



va-Q-tec AG Annual Report 2022

N
o

te
s

|  116 Consolidated financial statements and notes

Other financial assets

kEUR 
Non–

current Current
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Investments 3,300  – 3,300

Suppliers  
with debit 
balances – 65 65

Deposits 296 81 377

Derivates 1,150  – 1,150

Receivables 
from factoring 
agreements – 1,606 1,606

Miscellaneous 226 628 854

Group, total 4,972 2,380 7,352

As of 31 December 2022, other financial assets 
include the investments in SUMTEQ GmbH recognized 
at fair value in the amount of kEUR 3,375 (previous 
year: kEUR 3,000) and ING3D GmbH in the amount 
of kEUR 455 (previous year: kEUR 300). 

Other financial assets include the positive fair values 
from cross–currency swaps to hedge currency risks 
in connection with the bond issued in Swiss francs in 
the amount of kEUR 3,044 (previous year: kEUR 1,150), 
security retentions and pledged bank accounts under 
factoring agreements (see also section 7.2.1.7) 
amounting to kEUR 2,365 (previous year: kEUR 1,606) 
as well as a rental deposit account for the rental of 
parts of buildings and land areas amounting to 
kEUR 200 (previous year: kEUR 200). 

The other financial assets are neither overdue nor 
impaired.

7.2.1.5 Other non–current and current non–
financial assets

Other non–financial assets

kEUR 
Non–

current Current
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

Advance 
payments on 
intangible 
assets 1,016  – 1,016

Advance 
payments on 
inventories 9  – 9

VAT 
receivables  – 8 8

Advance 
payments 
and accrued 
income  – 1,530 1,530

Miscellaneous 187 544 731

Group, total 95 63 158

Group, total 1,307 2,145 3,452

Other non–financial assets

kEUR 
Non–

current Current
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Advance 
payments on 
intangible 
assets 979  – 979

Advance 
payments on 
inventories  – 8 8

VAT 
receivables  – 4,551 4,551

Advance 
payments 
and accrued 
income 224 502 726

Miscellaneous 95 107 202

Group, total 1,298 5,168 6,466
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Other non–financial assets mainly include advance 
payments for intangible assets, VAT receivables due 
from tax authorities, as well as prepaid expenses and 
deferred income.

7.2.1.6 Inventories 

Following the increase in inventories due to the overall 
growth in business activities in the previous year, 
inventories rose only slightly, by kEUR 369, in line with 
the growth of business activities in the 2022 financial 
year (previous year: kEUR 6,854).

kEUR  31 / 12 / 2022 31 / 12 / 2021

Raw materials and supplies 7,502 6,476

Work in progress 1,328 206

Finished products and 
goods 10,008 11,787

Group, total 18,838 18,469

Inventories as of 31 December 2022 include kEUR 584 
of impairment losses (previous year: kEUR 483). All 
of the changes in valuation allowances were 
recognized in profit or loss under changes in 
inventories. No reversals of valuation allowances were 
applied in either the reporting year or the previous 
year. The inventories no longer serve as collateral for 
credit lines following the termination of the multi–
bank agreement in mid–2022. The carrying amount 
of inventories recognized at net realizable value 
stands at kEUR 449 as of 31 December 2022 (previous 
year: kEUR previous 1,745). 

7.2.1.7 Trade receivables

Trade receivables decreased by kEUR 4,699 year–on–
year, from kEUR 12,432 to kEUR 7,733.

Where a risk of default relates to a customer, specific 
valuation allowances are applied. The respective 
business unit head assesses the risk level on the basis 
of an analysis of specific cases.

In addition, trade receivables are written down 
applying the simplified model of expected credit 
losses for receivables in accordance with IFRS 9.

Changes in valuation allowances to trade 
receiveables

kEUR 2022 2021

Balance at 1 January  146  162 

Consumption  14  30 

Release  68  13 

Addition  44  27 

Balance at 31 December  108  146 

A total of kEUR 70 (previous year: kEUR 43) of the 
impairment losses presented are impairment losses 
on receivables that are attributable to individual 
circumstances (see notes 7.1.3, 7.1.6 and 7.6). Lifetime 
expected credit losses (see notes 7.1.3 and 7.6) on 
trade receivables amounted to kEUR 38 as of the 
balance sheet date (previous year: kEUR 103).

va-Q-tec also sold trade receivables with a carrying 
amount of kEUR 6,872 (previous year: kEUR 6,996) to 
third parties on the basis of factoring agreements as 
part of the factoring program of the German parent 
company and the UK subsidiary as of 31 December 
2022, for which no significant opportunities and risks 
remain for the Group. These receivables were 
consequently derecognized in accordance with IFRS 
9.3.2.6 (a). Temporary security deposits and pledged 
bank accounts are reported uniformly as other current 
financial assets as of 31 December 2022 in the amount 
of kEUR 2,365 (previous year: kEUR 1,606). Due to the 
short–term nature of the trade receivables sold, their 
fair value approximates to their carrying amount.

For further information about the trade receivables, 
please refer to the remarks concerning financial 
instruments (section 7.4 of the notes to the financial 
statements) and risk management (section 7.6 of the 
notes to the financial statements.

7.2.1.8 Contract assets

In the financial year under review, the company 
recognized contract assets as follows in addition to 
trade receivables for contract costs (contract 
fulfillment costs):
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Contract assets

in kEUR 31 / 12 / 2022 31 / 12 / 2021

Contract assets 48  38 

Depreciation relating to contract assets amounted 
to kEUR 5 in the reporting period (previous year: 
kEUR 62). No indications existed of impairment to the 
capitalized assets on the balance sheet date. Due to 
the small number of individual circumstances, no 
value adjustment had to be made due to significant 
expected credit losses.

7.2.1.9 Cash and cash equivalents 

The cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
balances as well as cash accounts and short–term 
deposits at banks that had a remaining term of up to 
three months on addition. 

Cash and cash equivalents

kEUR  31 / 12 / 2022 31 / 12 / 2021

Group, total 9,381 9,810

7.2.1.10 Non–current assets held for sale 

In November 2021, the sale of part of the “investment 
property” (land) was notarized for a total price of 
kEUR 759. Due to the still missing prerequisites for the 
transfer of ownership, the sale did not take place 
economically until February 2022. As a consequence, 
this portion of the land, which is included in the 
va-Q-tec AG segment, was reported as “Non–current 
assets held for sale” under current assets as of the 31 
December 2021 reporting date, which was recognized 
as a disposal, as planned, due to the sale realized in 
the 2022 financial year. va-Q-tec generated a disposal 
gain of kEUR 97 from the partial sale.

7.2.2 Equity and liabilities

7.2.2.1 Equity

The consolidated statement of changes in equity 
provides a separate presentation of the changes in 
equity and comprehensive income. The components 
of comprehensive income are presented on an 
aggregated basis in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

Issued share capital
The share capital of the parent entity va-Q-tec AG is 
reported as the issued share capital in the consolidated 
financial statements. The share capital of va-Q-tec AG 
amounts to kEUR 13,415, and is divided into 13,415,000 
no–par–value registered bearer shares. The share 
capital is fully paid in. The shares are listed in the Prime 
Standard stock market segment of the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange. All of the shares carry the same rights and 
obligations. Each share grants one vote at the general 
meeting of shareholders. Exceptions to this are shares 
that the company itself holds (treasury shares), from 
which no rights accrue to va-Q-tec AG, such as the 
right to vote at the general meeting of shareholders. 
As of the balance sheet date, va-Q-tec AG held 13,566 
treasury shares. For this reason, the company’s issued 
capital amounts to 13,401,434 shares as of the balance 
sheet date.

in kEUR 
Number of 

shares
Nominal 

value

Ordinary shares 13,415,000 13,415

Balance on 31 / 12 / 2022 13,415,000 13,415

Ordinary shares 13,415,000 13,415

Balance on 31 / 12 / 2021 13,415,000 13,415

Approved share capital
The Management Board is authorized by resolution 
of the Annual General Meeting on 2 June 2022 to 
increase the company’s share capital, with the 
approval of the Supervisory Board, on one or more 
occasions on or before 1 June 2027 by a total of up to 
EUR 6,707,500 in return for cash and/or non–cash 
capital contributions, whereby the subscription right 
may be excluded (Approved Capital 2022/1).

Contingent capital
Pursuant to Section 6.5 of the company’s bylaws, the 
share capital is conditionally increased by 
EUR 6,500,000 through issuing up to 6,500,000 new 
ordinary registered shares (Contingent Capital 2020/1). 
Contingent Capital 2020/1 increase serves exclusively 
to grant shares for the exercise of conversion and 
warrant rights, or upon fulfillment of conversion 
obligations, to the holders or creditors of convertible 
bonds, bonds with warrants and/or participating bonds 
(or combinations of such instruments) (collectively 
“bonds”) issued on the basis of the authorization 
resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 14 August 
2020 under agenda item 7 letter b).
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Treasury shares
No changes occurred to treasury shares in 2022 and 
the number remains at 13,566 shares. 

Additional paid–in capital
Additional paid–in capital mainly comprises 
shareholders’  cash and non–cash capital 
contributions. Additional paid–in capital amounted 
to kEUR 54,020 as of the balance sheet date (previous 
year: kEUR 54,020).

Consolidated total other comprehensive income
Consolidated total other comprehensive income 
includes the reserve arising from the foreign currency 

translation of the foreign subsidiaries’ financial 
statements.

Furthermore, the effective portions of hedging 
relationships and the corresponding deferred taxes 
are recognized in other comprehensive income in the 
context of cash flow hedge accounting.

Retained earnings
Retained earnings mainly comprise cumulative profits 
carried forward, differential amounts arising from the 
first–time application of IFRS, and the share of 
periodic consolidated earnings that is attributable to 
the owners of va-Q-tec AG.

7.2.2.2 Non–current and current provisions

Provisions

in kEUR  Warranties  Archiving 
 Litigation 

costs  Other  Total 

Balance on 
01 / 01 / 2022  17  17  153  249  436 

Addition  59  –  85  3,079  3,223 

Utilisation  1  –  88  34  123 

Release  –  –  – 140  140 

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022  75  17  150  3,154  3,396 

Non–current  75  17  –  116  208 

Current  –  –  150  3,038  3,188 

Provisions 

in kEUR  Warranties  Archiving 
 Litigation 

costs  Other  Total 

Balance on 
01 / 01 / 2021  20  17  182  67  286 

Addition  13  –  133  193  339 

Utilisation  16  –  6  10  32 

Release  –  –  156  –  156 

Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021  17  17  153  249  436 

Non–current  17  17  –  155  189 

Current  –  –  153  94  247 
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Other provisions include a performance–related 
consulting fee of kEUR 3,021 in connection with the 
takeover offer by EQT Private Equity, which will only 
become due upon completion of the takeover. 

Provisions for litigation costs include the expected 
costs from both current and pending litigation. The 
other provisions are mainly provisions for pending 
losses arising from sales of products to customers 
where such sales have failed to cover their costs, and 
provisions for open services by suppliers. The company 
refrained from discounting non–current provisions for 
reasons of materiality. 

7.2.2.3 Non–current and current liabilities from 
bonds issued

In November 2020, va-Q-tec issued a bond with a 
nominal volume of CHF 25 million. The bond carries a 
coupon of 3.75 % p.a. and has a term of five years. The 
company recognized the bond at its fair value less 
directly attributable transaction costs on the trade 
date. Subsequent measurement is at amortized cost 
applying the effective interest method. The bond is 
translated at the closing rate. 

va-Q-tec has hedged the currency risks with 
derivative hedging transactions (cross–currency 
swaps/CCS) for the portion of CHF 24 million over 
the term of the bond. The CCS thereby eliminate the 
EUR–CHF currency risk arising from the interest and 
redemption payments for the entire term of the bond 
for the secured portion. The company applies hedge 
accounting in accordance with IFRS 9 for these 
hedging transactions. 

The main parameters of the currency swaps are as follows:

in kEUR

Nominal
amount

kCHF

Nominal
amount

kEUR
Start

of term
Maturity

date
Coupon

CHF
Coupon

EUR

Hedging
rate

CHF / EUR

Basic 
transaction 24,000 22,218 30/11/2020 30/11/2025 3,75 %

CCS 1 12,000 11,059 01/12/2020 30/11/2025 4,06 % 1,08505

CCS 2 12,000 11,074 01/12/2020 30/11/2025 4,07 % 1,08360

The agreed CCSs are based directly on the underlying 
transaction. The term, interest payment dates and 
nominal volume match.

The bond serves further investments in the container 
and box fleets, the scheduled refinancing of existing 
financial liabilities and general financing purposes.

As part of the bond, va-Q-tec has undertaken to 
maintain a minimum equity ratio of 30 %. As of the 
balance sheet date, the covenant is not met due to 
the costs incurred in the amount of kEUR 6,657 in 
connection with the public takeover offer by EQT 
Private Equity, which are not attributable to the 
operating business. The lead manager of the bond 

has assured va-Q-tec, on the basis of the existing 
information, that a calling of the bond and the 
convening of a creditors’ meeting is waived. The 
commitment of the lead manager of the bond is 
subject to the condition that the capital increase is 
realized immediately after the closing of the takeover 
transaction (which is contractually secured by the 
merger agreement, see section 8.5 of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements ) and that no new 
circumstances require a reassessment of the facts. 
For this reason, the Management Board of va-Q-tec 
assumes that no change will be applied to the term 
of the bond or the payment dates for interest and 
repayment. In this respect, no change in the valuation 
of the bond and no adjustment of the expected 
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outgoing payments is required. The bond, which is 
recognized at a carrying amount of kEUR 24,821 as 
of 31 December 2022 balance sheet date, was 
reclassified in the balance sheet from the item non–
current liabilities from the bond issued to the item 
current liabilities from the bond issued for the reasons 
stated above.

7.2.2.4 Non–current and current bank borrowings

The bank borrowings consist of long–term investment 
loans to finance land, buildings and plants, and short–
term current account overdrafts to finance current 
assets. 

Non–current investment loans are secured through 
land charges and the collateral assignment of 
machinery and fixtures. Most of the long–term loans 
have terms of between 15 and 20 years with fixed 
interest rates. The risk arising from variable–interest 
loans was partly hedged through interest–rate swaps. 
Hedge accounting according to IFRS 9 is not applied 
in this context.

The multi–bank agreement of va-Q-tec AG with 
three principal banks was terminated early as of 30 
June 2022 and replaced by bilateral credit line 
agreements with several banks under improved 
conditions. These are currently open–ended and 
amount to a total financing facility of kEUR 24,500 
and cover credit lines of the parent company. For 
further information, please refer to the explanations 
on credit risks in the section concerning risk 
management (section 7.6 of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements).

The inventories of va-Q-tec AG no longer serve as 
collateral for the credit lines. The company has 
remained committed to maintaining a minimum 
equity ratio of 30 % under the bilateral credit line 
agreements.

As of the balance sheet date, the covenant is not met 
due to the costs incurred in the amount of kEUR 6,657 
in connection with the public takeover offer by EQT 
Private Equity (see section 8.5 of the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements), which are not 
attributable to the operating business. In principle, 
non–compliance with the covenants leads to the 
possibility of the short–term loans being called in by 
the banks. However, the banks have waived compliance 
with the minimum equity ratio as of the 31 December 

2022 balance sheet date, and the calling in of the 
short–term loans. The portion of the financing facility 
of kEUR 18,500 that is subject to the covenant referred 
to here had been drawn down in the amount of 
kEUR 5,405 as of the 31 December 2022 balance sheet 
date, and was included in current bank borrowings.

7.2.2.5 Other non–current and current financial 
liabilities

Financial liabilities

kEUR 
Non–

current Current
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

Lease 
liabilities 4,982 2,304 7,286

Deferred 
liabilities for 
outstanding 
invoices  – 8,127 8,127

Accrued 
liability for 
financial 
auditors  – 382 382

Debtors with 
credit balance  – 693 693

Miscellaneous 325 226 551

Group, total 5,307 11,732 17,039

Financial liabilities

kEUR 
Non–

current Current
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2021

Lease 
liabilities 4,341 2,698 7,039

Derivative 
financial 
instruments 1  – 1

Deferred 
liabilities for 
outstanding 
invoices  – 4,725 4,725

Accrued 
liability for 
financial 
auditors  – 137 137

Debtors with 
credit 
balance  – 472 472

Miscellaneous 353 258 611

Group, total 4,695 8,290 12,985
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The leasing liabilities arise mainly from leases to 
finance the UK subsidiary’s container fleet assets, 
which until the end of 2018 were financed chiefly 
through sale–and–finance–leaseback transactions, 
as well as production plants at the locations in Kölleda 
and Würzburg. Also included are liabilities from leasing 
agreements for office and warehouse space and for 
company and service vehicles. The leased assets are 
reported as rights of use assets under non–current 

assets (see note 7.2.1.2). Further information about 
expenses and payments arising from leases is provided 
in notes 7.1.4, 7.1.6, 7.1.9 and 7.3.

The derivative financial instruments, which in the 
previous year had negative fair values from interest 
rate swaps used to hedge variable–rate non–current 
liabilities to banks, expired on 30 June 2022 with the 
repayment of the hedged loans (previous year: kEUR 1).

7.2.2.6 Other non–current and current non–financial liabilities

Non–financial liabilities 

kEUR  Non–current Current
Balance on 
31 / 12 / 2022

Special items for grants 4,753 789 5,542

Special items for deferred container profits  – 183 183

Employee bonuses  – 1,342 1,342

Liabilities for unutilised vacation  – 410 410

Prepayments received for orders  – 498 498

Liabilities from other taxes  – 389 389

VAT liabilities  – 3,194 3,194

Miscellaneous other non–financial liabilities  – 1,334 1,334

Other personnel liabilities  – 368 368

Liabilities for social insurances  – 192 192

Miscellaneous  – 774 774

Group, total 4,753 8,139 12,892

kEUR  Non–current Current
Balance on 

31 / 12 / 2021*

Special items for grants 4,388 463 4,851

Special items for deferred container profits 213 949 1,162

Employee bonuses  – 1,319 1,319

Liabilities for unutilised vacation  – 294 294

Prepayments received for orders  – 543 543

Liabilities from other taxes  – 445 445

VAT liabilities  2,162 789 2,951

Miscellaneous other non–financial liabilities  27 1,074 1,101

Other personnel liabilities  – 428 428

Liabilities for social insurances  – 139 139

Miscellaneous  27 507 534

Group, total 6,790 5,876 12,666

* �The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error corrections (see note 6.3)
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Government grants
Between 2017 and 2021, the company received 
investment grants from the government of Lower 
Franconia for investments in the new location in 
Würzburg. The investment grants served the 
construction investments, machinery and facilities 
as well as the overall investment for the building in 
Würzburg. In addition, the company received 
investment grants from Thüringische Aufbaubank 
between 2008 and 2022 for the various construction 
phases, machinery and equipment at the Kölleda site. 
These grants do not need to be repaid as long as the 
conditions are complied with, as expected. 

Special item for grants

in kEUR  2022 2021

Balance at 1 January  4,851  4,570 

Addition  1,294  694 

Release  603  413 

Balance at 31 December  5,542  4,851 

– of which non–current  4,753  4,388 

– of which current  789  463 

Deferred income from sale–and–finance–
leaseback transactions

Until 31 December 2018, containers used in the 
container fleet were sold by means of sale–and–
finance–leaseback transactions. Profit margins in 
excess of manufacturing costs arising from the sale 
of containers were recognized as deferred income 
under liabilities (special item for deferred container 
profits). Until the end of 2023, all of this deferred 
income will be released to other operating income 
over the containers’ respective five–year useful life. 
With the application of the IFRS 16 standard on 
accounting for leases, from 1 January 2019 no new 
profits have arisen that are recognized as as deferred 
income.

7.2.2.7 Liabilities from contracts with customers

In the financial year under review, the company 
accounted for obligations arising from contracts with 
customers as follows:

Liabilities from contracts with customers

in kEUR 31 / 12 / 2022 31 / 12 / 2021

Liabilities from contracts 
with customers  65  189 

Contract liabilities include in particular obligations 
from advance payments received and provisions for 
customer bonuses. Revenues include kEUR 189 
(previous year: kEUR 40) of revenues that were 
included in the net balance of contractual liabilities 
at the start of the reporting period.

7.2.2.8 Trade receivables

Trade payables are recognized at amortized cost. 
Their balance sheet values essentially correspond to 
their market values. They are due within one year.

7.3 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 
FLOWS

The cash flow statement shows how the cash position 
has changed at va-Q-tec over the course of the 
reporting year due to cash inflows and outflows. 
Pursuant to IAS 7 (Statement of Cash Flows), a 
distinction is drawn between cash flows from 
operating, investing and financing activities. The 
change in liquid assets due to changes in exchange 
rates is presented separately.

The cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow 
statement comprise all cash positions reported on 
the statement of financial position, as well as cash 
accounts and short–term deposits at banks that have 
a remaining term of up to three months on addition, 
are subject to only minor value fluctuations, and their 
availability is not restricted.
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The cash inflows and outflows from investing and 
financing activities are presented in accordance with 
the direct method. The cash inflows and outflows from 
investing activities comprise additions to intangible 
assets as well as disposals of, or additions to, property, 
plant and equipment. Financing activities include 
cash inflows from real estate and plant financing, 
cash outflows from the repayment of bank borrowings, 
as well as ingoing and outgoing payments for leases. 
Payments made under leases included in the cash 
flow statement amounted to kEUR 3,461 in the 
reporting period (previous year: kEUR 3,175). Further 
information about liabilities arising from leases and 
expenses from leases is provided in notes 7.1.4, 7.1.6, 
7.1 .9 and 7.2.2.5 to the consolidated financial 
statements. As in the previous year, cash inflows from 
sale–and–finance–leaseback transactions as well 
as investment allowances and grants received are 

shown within separate items within cash flows from 
financing activities.

By contrast, cash inflows and cash outflows from 
operating activities are derived indirectly, starting 
from the consolidated net profit. To this end, the 
consolidated net profit is adjusted to reflect non–
cash expenses and income, primarily depreciation, 
amortization, impairment losses, deferred tax, the 
release of special items, the measurement of financial 
instruments, and changes in provisions. These 
adjustments are supplemented by changes in other 
assets and liabilities, as well as working capital.

Investing and financing processes that have not 
resulted in a change in cash and cash equivalents are 
not reflected in the cash flow statement.

Reconciliation statement of financial liabilities from financing acitivities (IAS 7)

Carrying 
amount 

31 / 12 / 2021
cash 

transactions non–cash transactions

Carrying 
amount 

31 / 12 / 2022

in kEUR
currency 

translation
change in 
valuation other

Bonds 23,362  – 1,189  – 270 24,821

Bank borrowings 37,192 250  –  – 57 37,499

Leases 7,039 –3,100 137  – 3,210 7,286

Financial liabilities 67,593 –2,850 1,326  – 3,537 69,606

Reconciliation statement of financial liabilities from financing acitivities (IAS 7)

Carrying 
amount 

31 / 12 / 2020
cash 

transactions non–cash transactions

Carrying 
amount 

31 / 12 / 2021

in kEUR
currency 

translation
change in 
valuation other

Bonds 22,064  – 1,055  – 243 23,362

Bank borrowings 29,089 8,035  –  – 68 37,192

Leases 6,045 –2,946 115  – 3,825 7,039

Financial liabilities 57,198 5,089 1,170  – 4,136 67,593

7.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The following table presents financial instruments 
with their carrying amounts and fair values, analyzed 

by IFRS 9 measurement categories. All of the fair 
values are allocated to one of the measurement levels 
of the fair value hierarchy. Where no corresponding 
allocation has occurred, it is assumed that the 
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carrying amount corresponds to fair value. This relates 
mainly to trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, 
miscellaneous current financial assets, trade payables 
and miscellaneous current financial liabilities, all of 
which have short remaining terms. 

Section 4.2 “Basis of preparation of the financial 
statements” provides a definition of the fair value 

hierarchy levels. All allocations to levels are reviewed 
at the end of the reporting period. No reclassifications 
between levels occurred in either the reporting year 
or the previous year.

The following table shows the carrying amounts and 
fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
including their levels in the fair value hierarchy.

Values by measurement categories 2022

Measurement 
category as 
per IFRS 9 Carrying amount Fair value of which: fair value

Aquisition 
cost

31 / 12 / 2022
Fair value

31 / 12 / 2022in kEUR 31 / 12 / 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial Assets

Investments FVtPL – 4,130 4,130 – 4,130 –

Trade accounts receivables AC 3,987 – 3,987 – – –

Trade accounts receivables FVtPL – 3,746 3,746 – 3,746 –

Other financial assets – – – – – – –

of which: derivative financial 
instruments with hedging 
relationship – – 3,044 3,044 3,044

of which: miscellaneous 
other financial liabilities AC 7,312 – 7,312 – – –

Cash and cash equivalents AC 9,381 – 9,381 – – –

Total 20,680 10,920 31,600 – – –

Financial liabilities

Bonds AC 24,821 – 25,150 25,150 – –

Bank borrowings AC 37,499 – 34,405 – 34,405 –

Trade payables AC 7,130 – 7,130 – – –

Other financial liabilities AC 9,752 – 9,710 – 9,710 –

Total – 79,202  – 76,395 – – –

Of which aggregated by measurement category as per IFRS 9 

in kEUR
Carrying 

amount Fair value

Amortised Cost (asset) AC  20,680  20,680 

At fair value through P&L (asset) FVtPL  7,876  7,876 

Amortised Cost (liability) AC 79,202 76,395
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Values by measurement categories 2021

Measurement 
category as 
per IFRS 9 Carrying amount Fair value of which: fair value

Aquisition 
cost

31 / 12 / 2021
Fair value

31 / 12 / 2021in kEUR 31 / 12 / 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial Assets

Investments FVtPL – 3,300 3,300 – 3,300 –

Trade accounts receivables AC 5,715 – 5,715 – – –

Trade accounts receivables FVtPL – 6,717 6,717 – 6,717 –

Other financial assets – – – – – –

of which: derivative financial 
instruments with hedging 
relationship FVtOCI – 1,150 1,150 – 1,150 –

of which: miscellaneous 
other financial liabilities AC 2,902 – 2,902 – – –

Cash and cash equivalents AC 9,810 – 9,810 – – –

Total 18,427 11,167 29,594 – – –

Financial liabilities

Bonds AC 23,362 – 24,731 24,731 – –

Bank borrowings AC 37,192 – 37,870 – 37,870 –

Trade payables AC 8,628 – 8,628 – – –

Other financial liabilities – – – – – –

of which: derivative financial 
instruments without hedging 
relationship FVtPL – 1 1 – 1 –

of which: miscellaneous 
other financial liabilities AC 5,944 – 5,938 – 5,938 –

Total 75,126 1 77,167 – – –

Of which aggregated by measurement category as per IFRS 9 

in kEUR
Carrying 

amount Fair value

Amortised Cost (asset) AC  18,427  18,427 

At fair value through P&L (asset) FVtOCI  10,017  10,017 

Amortised Cost (liability) FVtPL 75,126 77,166

At fair value through P&L (liability) FVtPL  1  1 
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The fair value of Level 2 interest–bearing bank borrowings 
is derived as the present value of the expected future 
cash flows. They are discounted at market interest rates 
on the balance sheet date. In the case of variable interest 
liabilities, the carrying amounts generally correspond to 
fair values. The fair value measurement of the 
investments in SUMTEQ GmbH and ING3D GmbH as of 
31 December 2022 was based on close–dated 
transactions and on capital measures of these 
companies that are under negotiation, and thereby on 
observable market prices (measurement level 2).

The fair value of Level 2 interest–rate swaps is calculated 
by discounting expected future cash flows on the basis 
of market interest rates valid on the respective reporting 
date for the contracts’ remaining terms. The fair value 
of the cross–currency swaps assigned to measurement 
Level 2 is determined on the basis of the current reference 
rates of the European Central Bank applicable on the 
balance sheet date. This is realized by taking into account 
forward premiums and discounts for the respective 
remaining term of the contracts compared to the 
contracting foreign exchange rate.

7.5 NET RESULT FROM FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The net result relating to financial instruments as presented in the consolidated income statement is composed 
as follows:

2022 net results from

Measurement 
category as 
IFRS 9  /  IFRS 16 in 
kEUR

Interest 
income

Interest 
expense

Impairment 
losses

Reversals of 
impairment 

losses

Subsequent 
measurement 

at fair value
Currency 

translation

Amortised Cost 
(asset)  5  – –44  68  – 1,028

At fair value 
through P&L 
(assets)  –  –  –  –  530  – 

Amortised Cost 
(liability)  – –2,481  –  –  – –103

At fair value 
through P&L 
(liability)  –  –  –  –  1  – 

Total  5 –2,481 –44  68 531 925

2021 net results from

Measurement 
category as 
IFRS 9  /  IFRS 16 in 
kEUR

Interest 
income

Interest 
expense

Impairment 
losses

Reversals of 
impairment 

losses

Subsequent 
measurement 

at fair value
Currency 

translation

Amortised Cost 
(asset)  –  – –18  –  – 769

At fair value 
through P&L 
(assets)  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Amortised Cost 
(liability)  – –1,989  –  –  – –40

At fair value 
through P&L 
(liability)  –  –  –  –  6  – 

Total  – –1,989 –18  – 6 729
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7.6 RISK MANAGEMENT

As an internationally active company, va-Q-tec is 
exposed to various risks during the course of its 
ordinary business activities, including credit, liquidity, 
and market risks. Market risks particularly result from 
changes to exchange rates and interest rates. 
Financial risk management measures are designed 
to manage and limit these market risks within the 
scope of operating and financial activities. Depending 
on the risk assessment, derivative hedging instruments 
are deployed, although generally only cash flow risks 
are hedged. Derivative financial instruments are used 
for operational hedging purposes, and are 
consequently not held for trading. To reduce default 
risk, hedging transactions are entered into only with 
financial institutions with excellent credit ratings. In 
individual cases, hedge accounting in accordance 
with IFRS 9 is applied in order to avoid fluctuations 
in earnings from changes in the market value of 
derivative financial instruments. 

The basic principles of the financial policy are 
regularly controlled by the Management Board and 
monitored by the Supervisory Board.

Credit risks
Credit risk is the risk that business partners will not 
be able to meet their contractual obligations, and 
that the va-Q-tec Group will incur a financial loss as 

a consequence. In the course of its operating 
activities, the Group is exposed to default risk, 
especially in the case of trade receivables, as well as 
risks as part of its financing activities, including its 
derivative financial instruments.

The credit risk from trade receivables is managed at 
the company level (i.e. locally), and monitored 
constantly. Identifiable default risks applying to 
financial assets are reflected through impairment 
losses. 

In accordance with IFRS 9, valuation allowances for 
expected credit losses (“expected loss model”) are 
recognized for all financial assets measured at 
amortized cost and for debt instruments measured 
at fair value through equity.

In principle, IFRS 9 provides for a three–stage 
procedure for this purpose. Risk provisions are formed 
either on the basis of the expected 12–month credit 
losses (stage 1) or on the basis of the expected credit 
losses over the term if the credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) or if an 
impaired credit quality is determined (stage 3). For 
the majority of financial assets, including trade 
receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component, the simplified procedure is applied. In this 
context, expected credit losses are always determined 
over the entire term of the financial instruments.

The application of the simplified procedure results in the following default risk classifications for the financial 
assets:

Credit risk exposure of financial assets 2022

in kEUR Trade receivables Contract assets
Other financial 

assets
Cash and cash 

equivalents

credit risk rating 
grade 1  –  – 6,734 9,381

credit risk rating 
grade 2 7,783 48 3,622  – 

credit risk rating 
grade 3 58  –  –  – 

Total 7,841 48 10,356 9,381
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Credit risk exposure of financial assets 2021

in kEUR Trade receivables Contract assets
Other financial 

assets
Cash and cash 

equivalents

credit risk rating 
grade 1  –  – 2,380 9,810

credit risk rating 
grade 2 12,535 38 1,671  – 

credit risk rating 
grade 3 43  –  –  – 

Total 12,578 38 4,051 9,810

Individual value adjustments are made in the event 
of corresponding individual circumstances and risk 
indications. Both historical data, such as historical 
default rates, and forward–looking information, such 
as individual and macroeconomic conditions, are 
included in determining the amount of valuation 
allowances. Default rates are determined on the basis 
of an allowance matrix with reference to historical 
defaults and an analysis of further factors.

The default of a counterparty results in the value 
adjustment of all open positions with the counterparty. 
In this context, the default is determined on the basis 
of an individual assessment, for example in the event 
of conspicuous changes in payment behaviour or 
insolvency filing. A financial instrument is derecognized 
when a reasonable evaluation cannot assume that a 
financial asset will be recoverable in whole or in part, 
for example after insolvency proceedings have ended 
or subject to other local conditions.

For the unimpaired trade receivables, value 
adjustments were made in accordance with IFRS 9 in 
the amount of the expected credit losses of kEUR 38 
(previous year: kEUR 103) (see note 7.1.3). The 
recoverability of receivables that are not overdue is 
regarded as very high. This assessment is due, above 
all, to the long–standing business relationships with 
most buyers, and our customers’ credit ratings. The 
other financial assets are neither overdue nor 
impaired.

Liquidity risks
Liquidity risk i.e. the risk that va-Q-tec is unable to 
meet its financial obligations, is limited through the 
creation of the requisite financial flexibility, and 
through an effective cash management system. To 
manage its future liquidity position, va-Q-tec 
employs corresponding liquidity planning instruments. 

Based on the confirmations received from the lead 
manager of the bond as well as from the banks 
regarding the waiver of a calling in of the bond and 
the short–term loans in connection with the shortfall 
of the agreed minimum equity ratio as of the reporting 
date, va-Q-tec AG has bank balances plus open 
credit lines in the amount of approximately 
EUR 28 million as of 31 December 2022, and 
consequently a comfortable financial position. 
Nevertheless, the bond is reclassified from non–
current to current liabilities and provisions in the 
balance sheet for the reasons stated above. Taking 
the current takeover offer into consideration, the 
alternative scenario and moderate debt overall, the 
Management and Supervisory boards do not identify 
any specific reasons that undermine a going concern 
assumption (see note 4.2).

Specific liquidity risks for the Group arise from the 
relatively high proportion of individual major 
customers with which no long–term contracts exist, 
and such customers’ theoretical default risks or risks 
of departure, as well as from potential repayment 
obligations to banks given non–compliance with 
covenants, and in relation to development agencies, 
given non–compliance with subsidy terms. The 
management steers these potential liquidity risks 
through targeted commercial, financial and 
organizational measures.

The following lists show the contractually agreed, 
undiscounted interest and principal payments for the 
non–derivative and derivative financial liabilities as 
per IFRS 7. If the maturity date is not fixed, the liability 
is related to the earliest due date. Interest payments 
with variable interest yield are taken into account 
according to the terms applicable as of the reporting 
date. We mainly assume that the cash outflows will 
not occur earlier than shown.
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The following table includes the repayment amount (including assumed future interest payments to be rendered) 
at the respective stated maturity date:

2022 | Repayment amounts on respective due date

Other financial liabilities

in kEUR Bonds
Bank 

borrowings
Lease 

liabilities

Miscellaneous 
other 

financial 
liabilities

Trade 
payables Total

2023  868 12,734  2,534 9,426 7,127 32,689

2024  868 6,167  1,779  120  – 8,934

2025  24,017  4,208  1,486  –  –  29,711 

2026  –  3,314  1,014  205  –  4,533 

2027  –  2,352  786  –  –  3,138 

2028 
and after  –  12,768  304  –  –  13,072 

Total 
31 / 12 / 2022  25,753 41,543  7,903 9,751 7,127 92,077

2021 | Repayment amounts on respective due date

Other financial liabilities

in kEUR Bonds
Bank 

borrowings
Lease 

liabilities

Miscellaneous 
other 

financial 
liabilities

Trade 
payables Total

2023  866  8,658  2,880  5,944  8,628  26,976 

2024  866  9,910  1,728  –  –  12,504 

2025  866  4,454  823  –  –  6,143 

2026  23,968  2,545  696  –  –  27,209 

2027  –  1,684  540  –  –  2,224 

2028  
and after  –  13,356  669  –  –  14,025 

Total 
31 / 12 / 2021  26,566  40,607  7,336  5,944  8,628  89,081 

Collateral in the form of land charges on land and 
buildings at the Kölleda site and at the headquarters 
in Würzburg, collateral assignments of machinery and 
installation items, as well as collateral for finance 
leases in the form of production plants exist for 
va-Q-tec loans and bank overdrafts utilized as of the 
reporting date. Above and beyond this, the UK 

subsidiary’s containers, which are leased as part of 
the container fleet, are assigned as collateral for 
finance leases. The current account lines used under 
the multi–bank agreement are collateralized by 
inventories as of the balance sheet date. Furthermore, 
va-Q-tec AG has committed itself to maintaining a 
minimum equity ratio as well as minimum EBITDA 



va-Q-tec AG Annual Report 2022

N
o

te
s

|  131 Consolidated financial statements and notes

metrics. As part of the bond issued in 2020, 
va-Q-tec AG has also committed to maintaining a 
minimum equity ratio.

Currency risks
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
va-Q-tec is exposed to this risk primarily from its 
business activities (when revenues and / or expenses 
are denominated in a currency other than the 
functional currency of the respective Group company). 
Where financially feasible, va-Q-tec hedges its 
significant exchange rate risks by employing forward 
currency transactions. The hedging of value 
fluctuations of future cash flows from expected 
transactions involves planned costs denominated in 
foreign currency. Differences caused by exchange 
rates when financial statements are translated into 
the Group currency are not taken into consideration.

For the disclosure of market risks, IFRS 7 requires 
sensitivity analyses that show how changes to 
relevant risk variables (e.g. exchange rates, interest 
rates) might affect earnings and equity. To measure 
periodic effects, a potential change in the risk 
variables is applied to the financial instruments 
position on the reporting date. This approach assumes 
that this year–end position is a representative for the 
financial year concerned. 

The following sensitivity analysis is based on USD, 
GBP, CHF, SGD and KRW as the significant foreign 
currencies for the va-Q-tec Group. The analysis is 
based on the status as of 31 December 2021 of the 
positions of receivables, liquid assets and liabilities 
denominated in USD, GBP, CHF, SGD and KRW. 
Effects on consolidated results and equity were 
calculated that are derived from the simulated USD– 
Exchange rate USD, GBP, CHF, SGD and KRW 
exchange rates as of the reporting date.

The following currency scenarios arise:

2022 | Change in equity effectivities

in kEUR USD GBP CHF KRW SGD Summe

+100 basis points 303 –15 7 89 81 465

–100 basis points –370 19 –9 –109 –99 –568

2021 | Change in equity effectivities

in kEUR USD GBP CHF KRW SGD Summe

+100 basis points 542 0 –9 65 89 687

–100 basis points –662 0 11 –80 –109 –840

Based on the valuation as of 31 December 2022, a 
sensitivity analysis was performed to determine the 
change in equity in the event of a parallel shift in the 
foreign currency valuation of the Swiss franc by 100 
basis points for each of the secured portion of the 
bond and the related hedges. An appreciation of the 
CHF against the EUR by 100 basis points as of the 
balance sheet date would reduce other comprehensive 
income by kEUR 4,964 without taking hedging 
transactions into account (previous year: kEUR 3,691). 
A depreciation of the CHF against the EUR would 
reduce other comprehensive income in equity by 
kEUR 24 without affecting profit or loss (previous 
year: a depreciation of the CHF against the EUR would 

have increased other comprehensive income by 
kEUR 1,018).

Interest rate risks
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 
to changes in market interest rates. The risk of 
fluctuations in market interest rates to which the 
Group is exposed results primarily from variable rate 
loans and overdrafts. To a minor extent, the Group 
manages its interest rate risk in relation to financial 
liabilities through employing interest rate derivatives 
in the form of interest rate swaps for long–term loans, 
whereby no hedge accounting is applied.
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Interest rate risks according to IFRS 7 are calculated 
by means of a sensitivity analysis. The following 
sensitivity analysis includes both the effects on the 
net interest result due to variable interest financial 
instruments existing on the respective reporting date, 
and the value changes of the interest–rate swaps 
that have been concluded. The effects of variable 
market interest rates on consolidated results in equity 
were calculated.

If the market interest–rate level as of the reporting 
date had been 100 basis points higher, the 
consolidated profit/loss would have been kEUR 63 
lower (previous year: kEUR 47 lower), and consolidated 
equity would have been kEUR 63 lower (previous year: 
kEUR 47 lower). If the market interest–rate level as of 
the reporting date had been 100 basis points lower, 
the consolidated profit/loss would have been kEUR 63 
higher (previous year: kEUR 45 higher), and 
consolidated equity would have been kEUR 63 higher 
(previous year: kEUR 45 higher).

Capital management
The primary objective of capital management at 
va-Q-tec is the continuous and long–term enhancement 
and growth of the company’s value, and the securing 
of its liquidity. A high credit rating and a good equity 
ratio represent important building blocks to this end. 
The Group manages its capital structure and 
implements adjustments while taking changes in 
economic conditions into account.

va-Q-tec regularly monitors its capital on the basis 
of various key figures. The equity ratio represents an 
important key indicator in this context. The 
Management Board has defined a range for the equity 
ratio of between 35 and 40 % as the medium–term 
target. The equity ratio decreased to 32 % in the 2022 
financial year (previous year: 36 %). As a consequence, 
it failed to meet the target set by the Management 
Board at the end of 2022. As part of the COOL project, 
the Bidder has undertaken to subscribe for a capital 
increase of 10 % of the company’s existing share 
capital at EUR 26 per share immediately following the 
closing of the transaction, and thereby excluding 
subscription rights for existing shareholders. In the 
event of a successful closing, which is currently 
expected, the company will receive almost EUR 35 million 
in additional equity, which will increase the equity 
ratio to well over 40 %. 

As of 31 December 2022, financial liabilities of the 
parent company va-Q-tec AG in the amount of 
kEUR 0 (previous year: kEUR 174) were subject to 
financial covenants relating to the separate and 
consolidated financial statements of va-Q-tec AG. 
As part of the bilateral credit line agreements, 
va-Q-tec has entered into a commitment to the 
banks to maintain a minimum equity ratio of 30 % 
(see notes 7.2.2.4 and 8.5). Financial liabilities of 
va-Q-tec Ltd. (UK) from finance leases and loans of 
kEUR 5,098 as of 31 December 2022 (previous year: 
kEUR 5,396) are subject to a covenant based on the 
separate financial statements of va-Q-tec Ltd. (UK). 
This covenant requires equity as recognized on the 
balance sheet of at least kEUR 2,500 as of the 
balance sheet date. This covenant was met as of the 
balance sheet date, as in the previous year. In addition, 
the company has undertaken not to fall below a 
liquidity level of kEUR 5,000 for the term of the bond. 
As of the balance sheet date, the liquidity available 
at short notice, taking unutilized current account lines 
into account, amounts to kEUR 27,573 (previous year: 
kEUR 15,258), thereby fulfilling the commitment that 
has been entered into.
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8 OTHER DISCLOSURES 
8.1 SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the purpose of segment reporting, the activities 
of the va-Q-tec Group are separated by operating 
segments based on the regulations of IFRS 8 
(Operating Segments). The structure is based on 
internal management and reporting on the basis of 
legal entities. The va-Q-tec Group operates in the 
three reporting segments of “va-Q-tec AG”, 
“va-Q-tec Ltd. (UK)” and “Other”. 

The activities of the German and UK reporting 
segments are unchanged compared with the previous 
year. A fulfillment centre (conditioning and cleaning 
of rental boxes) is operated in Switzerland. In addition 
to purchasing and sales services, the Korean 
subsidiary also generates independent third–party 
sales for the Group. In addition to sales services, the 
subsidiaries in the USA, Uruguay, Singapore and 
Japan generate independent third–party sales. The 
newly founded subsidiaries in Brazil and India have 
not yet contributed any significant business activities 
during the past financial year.

The reporting and reporting management of the 
individual segments at va-Q-tec is directly according 
to IFRS. Insofar they are material, the supply and 
service relationships between the reporting segments 
are presented on a consolidated basis.

Starting from the total sum of the reporting segments, 
intragroup transactions are eliminated in the 
“Consolidation” column, particularly taking into 
account effects from the sale–and–finance–
leaseback transactions.
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Segment reporting FY 2022

va-Q-
tec AG

va-Q-tec 
Ltd. (UK) Other

 Operating 
divisions, 

total 
 Consoli

dation  Group 

kEUR IFRS IFRS IFRS

External revenue 48,762 44,088 18,983 111,833  – 111,833

Internal revenue 23,516 1,019 3,510 28,045 –28,045  – 

Total sales revenue 72,278 45,107 22,493 139,878 –28,045 111,833

At a point in time 65,766  – 17,347 83,113 –23,369 59,744

Over time 6,512 45,107 5,146 56,765 –4,675 52,090

Total income 76,981 46,818 22,654 146,453 –23,650 122,803

Cost of materials and 
services –31,182 –18,991 –12,771 –62,944 16,243 –46,701

Personnel expenses –29,568 –4,182 –4,812 –38,562 975 –37,587

Other operating expenses –26,595 –8,124 –5,020 –39,739 8,960 –30,779

EBITDA –10,364 15,521 51 5,208 2,528 7,736

Depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment losses –7,790 –8,829 –1,410 –18,029 3,029 –15,000

EBIT –18,154 6,692 –1,359 –12,821 5,557 –7,264

Result from fair value 
valuation of investments –472  –  – –472 1,002  530 

Financial income  406  6  4  416 –410  6 

Financial expenses –2,292 –584 –142 –3,018 410 –2,608

EBT –20,512 6,114 –1,497 –15,895 6,559 –9,336

H1 2022 investments 7,910  6,852 3,192  17,954 –2,032  15,922 

Assets 30.06.2022 132,392 44,388  24,241 201,021 –58,507  142,514 

Non–current assets*
30.06.2022  67,861  21,805  5,728  95,394 –8,713  86,681 

Liabilities 30.06.2022  92,950  28,842  26,884  148,676 –44,861  103,815 

H1 2022 employees**  534  54  61  649  –  649 

* The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error corrections (see note 6.3).
** �Non–current assets relate exclusively to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
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Segment reporting FY 2021*

va-Q-
tec AG

va-Q-tec 
Ltd. (UK) Other

 Operating 
divisions, 

total 
 Consoli

dation  Group 

kEUR IFRS IFRS IFRS

External revenue 48,457 36,079 19,527 104,063  – 104,063

Internal revenue 26,812 1,518 1,446 29,776 –29,776  – 

Total sales revenue 75,269 37,597 20,973 133,839 –29,776 104,063

At a point in time 70,598  – 16,105 86,703 –26,730 59,973

Over time 4,671 37,597 4,868 47,136 –3,046 44,090

Total income 87,399 38,289 21,061 146,749 –24,218 122,531

Cost of materials and 
services –38,171 –14,679 –13,399 –66,249 15,767 –50,482

Personnel expenses –27,545 –3,798 –2,909 –34,252 1,061 –33,191

Other operating expenses –14,978 –5,281 –3,666 –23,925 2,861 –21,064

EBITDA 6,705 14,531 1,087 22,323 –4,529 17,794

Depreciation, amortisation 
and impairment losses –6,338 –8,788 –920 –16,046 2,391 –13,655

EBIT 367 5,743 167 6,277 –2,138 4,139

Financial income  392  –  –  392 –386  6 

Financial expenses –1,990 –559 –89 –2,638 386 –2,252

EBT –1,231 5,184 78 4,031 –2,138 1,893

H1 2022 investments  17,364  14,226  3,372  34,962 –5,972  28,990 

Assets 30.06.2022  133,584  38,741  16,280  188,605 –43,440  145,165 

Non–current assets**
30.06.2021  68,700  23,967  4,037  96,704 –9,782  86,922 

Liabilities 30.06.2021  73,751  26,613  17,370  117,734 –24,216  93,518 

H1 2021 employees***  528  58  39  625  –  625 

* �The comparative figures have been adjusted due to error corrections (see note 6.3).
** �Non–current assets relate exclusively to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
*** �The number of employees includes Management Board members, Managing Directors, trainees and interns (2022: 33; 

previous year: 34)



va-Q-tec AG Annual Report 2022

N
o

te
s

|  136 Consolidated financial statements and notes

As in the previous year, in the 2022 financial year 
va-Q-tec AG did not have any customers accounting 
for more than 10 % of total consolidated revenues.

The revenues are distributed geographically as 
follows:

in kEUR  2022 2021

Germany  25,569  23,768 

Rest of European Union  26,425  24,892 

Other  59,839  55,403 

Group, total  111,833  104,063 

The category “Other” includes revenues of kEUR 22,180 
in North America (previous year: kEUR 21,908). The 
allocation of revenues with external customers to a 
geographic region is based on the customer’s location. 
The geographic allocation of non–current assets is 
based on the domicile of the asset’s owner, and is 
shown in the segment reporting according to legal 
entities presented above.

The allocation of revenues to Products, Systems and 
Services is as follows: revenues of kEUR 22,297 
(previous year: kEUR 22,032) were generated with 
Products (vacuum insulation panels and individually 
sold heating storage components) in the financial 
year under review. The Group generated kEUR 35,046 
of revenues with Systems (thermal packaging and 
related components) in the reporting year (previous 
year: kEUR 36,379). Revenues of kEUR 52,090 were 
generated from Services in the financial year under 
review (previous year: kEUR 44,090). Other revenues 
amounted to kEUR 2,400 in the financial year 
(previous year: kEUR 1,562).

8.2 CONTINGENCIES AND OTHER 
FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

Other financial obligations exist that mainly arise 
from purchase commitments and marketing costs. 

The due dates of the other financial obligations are 
as follows:

Other financial obligations (contingent liabilities)

in kEUR  31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Group, total 9,574 13,506

due within one year 8,243 12,208

due between one and five 
years 1,331 1,298

due after five years – –

Other financial obligations as of the 31 December 2022 
balance sheet date include purchase commitments 
for investments in non–current intangible assets of 
kEUR 285 (previous year: kEUR 548) and for 
investments in non–current tangible assets of 
kEUR 771 (previous year: kEUR 3,822).

Moreover, a bill guarantee line in an amount of 
kEUR 24 (previous year: kEUR 24) exists with 
Commerzbank AG, under which va-Q-tec AG is liable 
for lending to third parties.

va-Q-tec is regularly involved in patent disputes both 
as plaintiff and defendant. Since 2021, a patent 
dispute has been pending in Germany concerning the 
alleged infringement of a patent by va-Q-tec AG. In 
February 2022, the action was granted at first instance. 
va-Q-tec AG immediately filed an appeal against the 
first–instance ruling. Previously, va-Q-tec AG had 
already filed a nullity suit against the patent in 
question, which expires at the beginning of 2023. 

Given both the already pending appeal against the 
court’s first–instance decision and the nullity action 
against the patent, va-Q-tec AG is of the opinion 
that the allegedly patent–infringing technology does 
not infringe any valid patent claims. For this reason, 
va-Q-tec AG has not formed a provision in its 
financial statements in relation to this matter and 
ascribed no value level to the risk, but will review and, 
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if necessary, adjust its assessment at regular intervals 
and depending on further developments in the legal 
proceedings. 

The stock option program for va-Q-tec staff 
introduced in December 2017, which includes the 
rendering of part of the price paid for demonstrably 
purchased va-Q-tec shares, led to outgoing payments 
of kEUR 14 in 2022 (previous year: kEUR 16). The 
program was extended until 31 December 2022, which 
also leads to a minor scope of contingent liabilities 
in 2022. The “va-Q-share” share purchase program 
of va-Q-tec AG forms part of the additional benefits 
for company employees aimed at the company’s 
sustained a positive development and growth with 
individual contractual target agreements. The va-Q-
share Plus program creates a long–term incentive for 
participants to commit themselves to the company’s 
performance and success. For this purpose, program 
participants are granted a monetary subsidy for them 
to independently purchase the company’s shares in 
the market. The program has no material effects or 
payment obligations. In connection with EQT’s 
takeover offer, the Management and Supervisory 
boards decided to suspend the minimum holding 
period stipulated in the share purchase programs in 
order to give employees the opportunity to tender 
their shares to the Bidder. Due to the takeover offer 
and the planned delisting, the share purchase 
programs for 2023 were not extended. 

8.3 SHARE–BASED PAYMENT

va-Q-tec currently has no arrangements for equity–
settled share–based payment transactions with 
employees. 

8.4 RELATED PARTIES

IAS 24 requires the disclosure of the existence of 
related companies, and transactions with, and 
outstanding balances in relation to, related companies, 
if they are not already included as consolidated 
companies in the consolidated financial statements, 
as well as related individuals. va-Q-tec AG is the 
Group’s ultimate parent entity. va-Q-tec AG is the 
ultimate parent company of the Group. 

As a matter of principle, key management personnel 
and their close relatives are regarded as related 
individuals at the va-Q-tec Group. Key management 
personnel comprised the members of the Management 

and Supervisory Boards of va-Q-tec AG, as well as 
the managing directors of the foreign subsidiaries in 
Korea and the UK. 

Related companies within the va-Q-tec Group are 
regarded as those companies or groups of 
shareholders over which va-Q-tec AG, the 
Management and Supervisory Board members and 
their close family relatives, can at least exercise 
significant influence, or which, for their part, can exert 
significant influence over va-Q-tec.

Key management personnel of the va-Q-tec Group

Management Board

Dr. Joachim Kuhn since 01.04.2001

Stefan Döhmen since 01.07.2017

Supervisory Board

Dr. Gerald Hommel  
Vorsitzender since 27.06.2014

Dr. Barbara Ooms–Gnauck
Stellv. Vorsitzende since 27.06.2014

Winfried Klar since 20.03.2013

Uwe Krämer since 01.10.2015

Dr. Eberhard Kroth since 20.03.2013

Dr. Burkhard Wichert since 21.05.2021

Managing Directors of the 
subsidiaries in the UK, 
Korea and Japan

Insook Yoo –  
va-Q-tec Ltd. (Korea) since 07.07.2011

Insook Yoo –  
va-Q-tec G.K. (Japan) since 05.04.2017

Sven Larsen –  
va-Q-tec Ltd. (UK) since 01.01.2017

Steve Healy –  
va-Q-tec Ltd. (UK)) since 03.03.2022

Shareholders with significant influence over 
va-Q-tec AG

Share pool of the families 
of Dr. Joachim Kuhn and  
Dr. Roland Caps

Interest in the share 
capital: 25.8 %
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Total compensation of key management members 
of the va-Q-tec Group

kEUR 2022 2021

short–term benefits 1,549 1,616

Post–employment benefits 33 25

Total renumeration of key 
management personnel 
of the va-Q-tec Group 1,582 1,641

Management Board compensation

kEUR 2022 2021

short–term benefits 628 652

Post–employment benefits 17 17

Total renumeration of the 
management board 645 669

Compensation totalling kEUR 645 was paid to the 
Management Board in 2022 (previous year: kEUR 669). 
This compensation consisted of basic compensation 
of kEUR 567 (previous year: kEUR 523), performance–
based one–year compensation of kEUR 51 (previous 
year: kEUR 130), multi–year variable compensation 
of kEUR 0 (previous year: kEUR 0) and contributions 
to the company’s pension scheme. Defined contribution 
pension commitments have existed for the Management 
Board members since 2014. To this end, kEUR 17 
(previous year: kEUR 17) was paid into an external 
reinsured pension fund in the year under review. For 
further information concerning Management Board 
compensation, please refer to the Compensation 
Report in the Corporate Governance section on the 
Investor Relations website.

As in the previous year, no advances or loans were 
extended to Management Board members in the year 
under review.

Supervisory Board compensation
Compensation of kEUR 287 was granted to the 
Supervisory Board members for the 2022 financial 
year (previous year: kEUR 220). In both the previous 
year and in the year under review, compensation 
included only a short–term component, and consists 
of compensation for normal Supervisory Board 

activity and expenses. In addition, consultancy 
services in an amount of kEUR 56 (previous year: 
kEUR 35) were compensated, commissioned and 
rendered especially as part of the Power 20+program 
and in connection with the financing of va-Q-tec AG. 

As of 31 December 2022, this Supervisory Board 
compensation generates kEUR 123 of payment 
obligations for the company (as of 31 December 2021: 
kEUR 156).

As in the previous year, no advances or loans were 
extended to Supervisory Board members in the year 
under review.

Interests held by the Management and Supervisory 
boards

As of the end of the 2022 financial year, the members 
of the Management Board, founders and members of 
the Supervisory Board held the following direct 
interests in the share capital of va-Q-tec AG:

Shareholder

Number of 
shares 

2022

Number of 
shares 

2021

CEO and 
founding families 3,464,635 3,355,433

CFO and 
Supervisory 
Board 62,960 58,281

Other transactions with related parties
Only a small number of transactions were conducted 
with related parties in the 2022 financial year. 
Revenues with Dr. Roland Caps amounted to kEUR 4 
for consulting services (previous year: kEUR 0).

8.5 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

In December 2022, the Management Board of 
va-Q-tec AG entered into a Business Combination 
Agreement (the “Business Combination Agreement”) 
with Fahrenheit AcquiCo GmbH (“Bidder”) and its sole 
shareholder, each controlled by EQT X Fund 
(hereinafter together with the Bidder “EQT Private 
Equity”), relating to a voluntary public takeover offer 
by EQT Private Equity and the terms and conditions 
of a strategic partnership. EQT Private Equity has 
subsequently announced that it intends, with the 
support of coinvestors Mubadala Investment 
Company (“Mubadala”) and the Sixth Cinven Funds 
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(“Cinven”), to launch a voluntary public tender offer 
to the shareholders of va-Q-tec to acquire all of the 
no–par–value registered shares of va-Q-tec AG 
against payment of a cash consideration of EUR 26.00 
per va-Q-tec share. Under the terms of the Business 
Combination Agreement, va-Q-tec and EQT Private 
Equity also agreed on the key elements of the 
transaction and their common understanding 
regarding the future development of va-Q-tec in the 
event of a successful completion of the takeover offer. 
This includes, in particular, the subscription to a 10 % 
capital increase of va-Q-tec AG also at a price of 
EUR 26.00 per share, which would provide the 
company with kEUR 34,879 of additional equity 
immediately after the successful completion of the 
takeover process. The Bidder has also stated that it 
intends to conclude a domination and profit and loss 
transfer agreement with va-Q-tec following the 
successful completion of the takeover offer and is 
seeking a possible delisting of va-Q-tec AG. 

The Business Combination Agreement provides for 
the combination of parts of va-Q-tec’s service and 
systems business focused on the pharmaceutical 
industry with Envirotainer AB (“Envirotainer”), in which 
EQT Private Equity already holds an indirect majority 
interest, if the takeover offer is successful. Envirotainer 
is a provider of active temperature control containers 
and a global leader in air transport solutions for 
temperature–sensitive pharmaceuticals, while 
va-Q-tec is a pioneer and leader in the complementary 
market segment for passive temperature chains. The 
merger is intended to combine the strengths of the 
two companies and create a more diverse and 
balanced portfolio. At the same time, with strategic 
and financial support from EQT Private Equity, 
va-Q-tec’s business in the area of thermal energy 
efficiency (“Product Business”) and thermal boxes for 
non–pharmaceutical applications is to be further 
developed in the long term within an independent, 
new company (“va-Q-tec 2.0”) following the spin–off 
from the previous company, and is to expanded to 
include new application possibilities for vacuum 
insulation technology. At present, however, no specific 
plans exist for the intentions declared for the period 
following the conclusion of the aforementioned steps. 

On 16 January 2023, the Bidder’s offer was published 
as announced. According to the offer document, the 
offer was subject to the achievement of a minimum 
acceptance threshold of 62.5 %, merger regulatory 
approvals and further standard market conditions.

After the expiry of the acceptance period on 16 
February 2023, the Bidder notified the company on 
17 February 2023 that the condition of reaching the 
minimum acceptance threshold had been met. 
Furthermore, the Bidder notified on 10 March 2023 
that, after the expiry of the further acceptance period 
on 7 March 2023, including the shares of the 
participating shareholders of the founding families, 
it holds a total of 85.75 % of the va-Q-tec shares or 
of the existing voting rights of va-Q-tec AG and that 
several offer conditions have been fulfilled, but that 
the condition of the merger regulatory clearances has 
not yet been fulfilled. Accordingly, the takeover offer 
is expected to be completed in the second or third 
quarters of 2023. In particular, due to the non–
recurring and extraordinary costs of kEUR 6,657 
(which, from the company’s perspective, were mainly 
incurred in connection with the improvement of 
financial security and the improvement of the equity 
ratio), the minimum equity ratio agreed with banks 
as part of the bond issued and some loan agreements 
was not met as of the 31 December 2022 reporting 
date. This gave the lead manager of the bond and the 
banks the right, but not the obligation, to call the bond 
or the loans early. Subsequently, at the request of 
va-Q-tec AG, both the lead manager of the bond 
confirmed that it waives the right to call the bond 
and convene a creditors’ meeting, and the other banks 
declared their waiver of compliance with the equity 
ratio as of 31 December 2022. Based on the 
confirmations received from the banks, va-Q-tec AG 
has bank balances plus open credit lines of 
approximately EUR 28 million as of 31 December 2022 
and thereby a comfortable financial position.

On 26 January 2023, the shareholders’ meeting of 
ING3D approved a capital increase, with an investment 
of kEUR 420 each, subscribed 50 % by va-Q-tec AG 
and 50 % by a further financial investor. As a 
consequence, the interest of va-Q-tec AG in ING3D 
increased from 15.0 % to 20.0 %.

On 23 March 2023, the shareholders’ meeting of 
SUMTEQ GmbH, in which va-Q-tec AG held a 15 % 
interest, approved a capital increase of kEUR 1,500. 
va-Q-tec AG did not participate in this capital 
increase, as a consequence of which its interest in 
the company was reduced slightly to 14 %.
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8.6 AUDITOR'S FEES

The fee for the services of the auditor Rödl & Partner 
G m b H  W i r t sc h a ft sp r ü f u n g s g e se l l sc h a ft 
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Nuremberg, of 
kEUR 461 (previous year: kEUR 189) comprises the 
following amounts:

kEUR 2022 2021

Financial statements audit 
(thereof previous years: 66) 443 134

Other certification services 15 32

Tax advisory services 
(thereof previous years: 0) 3 23

Group, total 461 189

8.7 STATEMENT OF CONFORMITY TO THE 
GERMAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Management and Supervisory boards of 
va-Q-tec AG issued the declaration of conformity 
with the German Corporate Governance Code 
pursuant to Section 161 AktG. The declaration is 
permanently available on the website www.va-Q-tec.
com in the Investor Relations section under: 

https://ir.va-Q-tec.com/download/companies/
vaqtec/CorporateGovernance/vaQtec_
Entsprechenserklaerung_2023.pdf 

Würzburg, 26 April 2023

va-Q-tec AG 

The Management Board

Dr. Joachim Kuhn 
Management Board 
Chairman, CEO

Stefan Döhmen 
Management Board 
Chairman, CFO
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
We assure to the best of our knowledge that, pursuant to the applicable generally accepted financial accounting 
principles, the consolidated financial statements convey a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position 
and performance, that the progress of business, including the business results and the Group’s position are 
presented in the combined Group management report so as to convey a true and fair view, and that the 
significant opportunities and risks pertaining to the Group’s prospective development are described.

Würzburg, 26 April 2023

Dr. Joachim Kuhn 
Management Board 
Chairman, CEO 

Stefan Döhmen 
Management Board 
Chairman, CFO
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 
REPORT

To va-Q-tec AG, Würzburg

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AND COMBINED MANAGEMENT RPEORT

Audit opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial 
statements of va-Q-tec AG, Würzburg, and its 
subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 
December 2022, and the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the financial year from 1 January 2022 
to 31 December 2022, and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. We have 
also audited the combined management report of the 
va-Q-tec Group and of va-Q-tec AG, Würzburg, (in 
short: combined management report) for the financial 
year from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022. In 
accordance with German legal requirements, we have 
not audited the content of the section “Corporate 
governance statement” and the non-financial Group 
statement contained in the section “Non-financial 
statement” of the combined management.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained 
in the audit,

•	 the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements comply, in all material respects, with 
the IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant 
to Section 315e (1) of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) and, in compliance with these 
requirements, give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities, and financial position of the 
Group as of 31 December 2022, and of its financial 
performance for the financial year from 1 January 
2022 to 31 December 2022, and

•	 the accompanying combined management report 
as a whole conveys a true and fair view of the 
Group’s position. In all material aspects, this 
combined management report is consistent with 

the consolidated financial statements, complies 
with German legal requirements, and appropriately 
presents the opportunities and risks entailed in 
future development. Our audit opinion on the 
combined management report does not cover the 
contents of the aforementioned parts of the 
combined management report not included within 
the scope of our audit.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) Clause 1 HGB, we declare 
that our audit has not led to any reservations concerning 
the legal compliance of the consolidated financial 
statements and the combined management report.

Basis for the audit opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and of the combined management report 
in accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit 
Regulation (No. 537/2014, referred to hereinafter as 
the “EU Audit Regulation”) and in compliance with 
German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial 
Statement Audits as promulgated by the Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in 
Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those 
requirements and principles are further described in 
the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements and of the 
combined management report” section of our 
auditor’s report. We are independent of the Group 
entities in accordance with the requirements of 
European law and German commercial and 
professional law, and we have fulfilled our other 
German professional responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. In addition, in accordance 
with Article 10 (2) (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we 
declare that we have not provided non–audit services 
prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit 
Regulation. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinions on the consolidated 
financial statements and on the combined 
management report.

Key audit matters in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
for the financial year from 1 January 2022 to 31 
December 2022. These matters were addressed in the 
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context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our audit 
opinion thereon we do not provide a separate audit 
opinion on these matters.

Revenue recognition 

•	 Reasons for designation as a particularly important 
audit subject

In the financial year under review, the va-Q-tec Group 
realized revenues of EUR 112 million (previous year: 
EUR 104 million). This corresponds to an increase of 
8% at Group level. The revenues of the va-Q-tec 
Group are heterogeneous and comprise the sale of 
thermal transport containers (systems), vacuum 
insulation panels and thermal energy storage 
components (products) as well as the shortterm rental 
from a large number of network stations distributed 
worldwide of transport containers preset to 
orderspecific temperatures (services). This is 
complemented by consulting and other services, 
which also form part of the sales and rental business. 
Given the volume growth as well as the heterogeneity 
and complexity of the business transactions, 
appropriately designed processes and controls that 
are implemented within them are necessary for the 
recognition of revenue on an accrual basis, and 
require special consideration in the audit..

In our view, the recognition of revenue on an accrual 
basis was of particular importance in the context of 
our audit.

•	 Our approach in the audit

We have analyzed the processes implemented for the 
sales and rental business throughout the Group. In 
doing so, we identified Groupwide control mechanisms 
for the accrualbased recognition of revenue in the 
sales process, assessed their appropriateness on a 
riskoriented basis, and performed functional tests. 
Furthermore, we conducted analytical audit 
procedures and examined a selection of sales revenue 
transactions both during the year and shortly before 
and after the balance sheet date in order to determine 
whether they had been properly recognized. In order 
to evidence the existence of trade receivables and 
thereby the recognition of sales revenues, we obtained 
balance confirmations for a selection of customers, 
or assessed corresponding incoming payments or 
further documents. The determination of our selection 

was riskoriented and based on qualitative and 
quantitative characteristics. Furthermore, we verified 
compliance with the reporting requirements of IFRS 
15 in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements.

•	 Reference to related information

For details, please refer to the section “Summary of 
significant accounting policies” in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements. Information on 
sales revenues and receivables is provided in the 
sections “Revenues” and “Trade receivables” in the 
notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Recognition of the corporate transaction

•	 Reasons for designation as a particularly important 
audit subject

With an announcement on 16 January 2023, a public 
takeover offer was made to acquire shares in 
va-Q-tec AG. Already in December 2022, va-Q-tec 
signed a Business Combination Agreement (BCA) 
with the Bidder. The public takeover offer provides for 
a minimum acceptance level, which has been reached, 
and is subject to the approval of antitrust authorities. 
This has not yet been issued.

This transaction situation has resulted in accounting 
decisions that require special consideration in the 
audit due to the complexity of the transaction and 
the associated significant risk of material 
misstatement, the estimation uncertainties and 
scope for discretion in the valuations made, and the 
overall material impact on the Group’s financial 
position and performance.

•	 Our approach in the audit

As part of our audit of the financial statements, we 
examined the accounting decisions made by the 
Company and critically evaluated the justifications 
provided by Management Board. In addition, we  
have assessed the further documents relating to the 
business transaction and the contractual 
arrangements and are satisfied that the presentation 
of the transaction and, in particular, the related costs 
are accurately reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements. As part of the BCA, a spinoff and 
divestment of the “nonpharmaceutical” business is 
planned, among other measures.
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We first evaluated the management’s assessment of 
non-compliance with the criteria set out in IFRS 5 
(Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations) of a classification as held for sale and 
as discontinued operations as of 31 December 2022. 
To this end, we gained an understanding of the 
proposed contractual arrangements and addressed 
the likelihood of share tender, antitrust approval and 
the progress of the divestments of the “non-
pharmaceutical” business. 

We also assessed the definition of the business 
activities falling within the scope of IFRS 5. The 
Management Board considers the business area in 
question to be unavailable for immediate sale in its 
current state, as both legal separations and 
operational splits of the existing Group structure are 
not possible and have not been planned. No specific 
decisions have been made either at the Bidder or 
within the Company regarding the distribution of, for 
example, assets, business relationships or employee 
affiliations.

In addition, we assessed the completeness of the 
presentation of the transaction costs, in particular 
against the background of the performancerelated 
remuneration components of a participating financial 
advisor. We have assessed the contractual 
arrangement, the actual circumstances over time and 
the Company's inability to withdraw from these 
remuneration awards with respect to the recognition 
criteria of a provision and have understood the 
Management Board's accounting decisions.

•	 Reference to related information

For details, please refer to the section “Events after 
the balance sheet date” in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, as well as the 
sections “Strategic orientation” and “Business trends” 
in the combined management report.

Other information

The Management and Supervisory boards are 
responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises:

•	 the Supervisory Board’s report,
•	 the statement on corporate governance in 

 
 

accordance with Section 289f HGB in conjunction 
with Section 315d HGB, to which reference is made 
in the “Corporate governance statement” section 
in the combined management report,

•	 the non-financial Group statement contained in 
the section “Non-financial statement” in the 
combined management report,

•	 the confirmation pursuant to Section 297 (2) 
Clause 4 HGB regarding the consolidated financial 
statements and the confirmation pursuant to 
Section 315 (1) Clause 5 HGB regarding the 
combined management report,

•	 the remaining parts of the annual report, with the 
exception of the audited consolidated financial 
statements and combined management report, 
which has been audited in relation to its contents, 
and our auditor’s report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for the report 
of the Supervisory Board. The Management and 
Supervisory boards are responsible for the statement 
pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (AktG) on the German Corporate 
Governance Code (DCGK), to which reference is 
made in the combined management report as part 
of the corporate governance statement. In all other 
respects, the management is responsible for the other 
information.

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the combined management report 
do not cover the other information, and consequently 
we do not express an audit opinion or any other form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
aforementioned other information and, in so doing, 
to consider whether the other information

•	 is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements, with disclosures in the 
combined management report whose content has 
been audited, or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or

•	 otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on our work, we conclude that there has been 
a material misstatement of such other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.
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Management and Supervisory boards’ responsibility 
for the consolidated financial statements and the 
combined management report

The management is responsible for the preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements that comply, 
in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the 
EU and the additional requirements of German 
commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB and 
for ensuring that the consolidated financial 
statements, in compliance with such requirements, 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and financial performance of the 
Group. Furthermore, the management is responsible 
for such internal controls as they determine necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated  
financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud (i.e., accounting 
manipulations and misstatements of assets) or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
the management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. It also 
bears the responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to the Company as a going concern. 
In addition, the management is responsible for 
preparing the accounts on a going concern basis 
unless an intention exists to liquidate the Group, or 
to cease operations, or no realistic alternative exists.

Furthermore, the management is responsible for the 
preparation of the combined management report 
which, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the 
Group’s position and is, in all material respects, 
consistent with the consolidated financial statements, 
complies with German legal requirements, and 
appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of 
future development. In addition, the management is 
responsible for such arrangements and measures 
(systems) it has deemed necessary to enable the 
preparation of a combined management report that 
is in accordance with the applicable German legal 
requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient 
appropriate evidence for the assertions in the 
combined management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing 
the Group’s financial reporting process for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
and of the combined management report.

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and whether the combined 
management report as a whole provides a suitable 
view of the Group's position and is consistent, in all 
material respects, with the consolidated financial 
statements and the audit findings, complies with 
German legal requirements, and suitably presents the 
opportunities and risks of future development, and 
to issue an auditor's report that includes our  
audit opinions on the consolidated financial 
statements and the combined management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee, that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit 
Regulation and in compliance with German Generally 
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits 
as promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 
(IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. 
Misstatements may arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the  
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements and combined management report.

We exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements and the combined management report 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion. The risk 
that material misstatements resulting from 
fraudulent activities will not be detected is  
higher than the risk that material misstatements  
resulting from errors will not be detected, as  
fraudulent activities may involve collusion, forgery,  
intentional omissions, misleading representations,  
or  the  over r ide  of  interna l  contro ls . 
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•	 Obtain an understanding of the internal control 
system relevant to the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements, and of arrangements and 
measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the 
combined management report, in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, albeit not for the purpose of 
expressing an audit opinion on the effectiveness 
of these systems.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies applied by the management and the 
reasonableness of estimates made by the 
management as well as related disclosures.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the 
management’s application of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists relating to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements and in the combined management 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our respective audit opinions. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to be able to continue as a 
going concern.

•	 We assess the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the 
consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in such a 
manner that the consolidated financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial 
position and financial performance in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional 
requirements of German law pursuant to § 315e 
(1) HGB.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group in order to 
be able to express audit opinions on the 
consolidated financial statements and on the 
 
 
 

 
 
 combined management report. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our audit opinions.

•	 Evaluate the consistency of the combined 
management report with the consolidated 
financial statements, its conformity with German 
law, and the view of the Group’s position it provides.

•	 Perform audit procedures on the prospective 
information presented by the management in the 
combined management report. On the basis of 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, 
in particular, the significant assumptions applied 
by the management as a basis for the prospective 
information, and evaluate the proper derivation of 
the prospective information from these 
assumptions. We do not express a separate audit 
opinion on the prospective information and on the 
assumptions used as a basis. A substantial 
unavoidable risk exists that future events will differ 
materially from the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We make a declaration to those charged with 
governance that we have complied with the relevant 
independence requirements and discuss with them 
all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence 
and, where relevant, the actions taken or safeguards 
implemented to address threats to such independence.

From the matters communicated with those charged 
with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and therefore comprise the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter.
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OTHER STATUTORY AND OTHER LEGAL 
REQUIREMENTS

Report on the audit of the electronic reproductions 
of the consolidated financial statements and the 
combined management report to be prepared for 
the purpose of disclosure in accordance with Section 
317 (3a) HGB

Audit opinion 

In accordance with Section 317 (3a), we  
were engaged to perform a reasonable  
assurance engagement to determine whether the  
reproductions of the consolidated financial  
statements and the combined management report 
contained in the file “529900MHY0HTHX71DO39-
2022-12-31-de.zip” (hash value: 576fd5c12ed-
9f927405787f26e52957db9d222c819c022880e-
6aa9152a6ffdf6) prepared for disclosure purposes 
(hereinafter also referred to as “ESEF documents”) 
comply in all material respects with the requi-
rements of Section 328 (1) HGB regarding the  
electronic reporting format (“ESEF format”). In  
accordance with German legal requirements, 
this audit extends only to the conversion of the  
information contained in the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the combined management  
report into the ESEF format and for this reason 
neither to the information contained in these re- 
productions nor to any other information contained 
in the aforementioned file. In our opinion, the repro-
ductions of the consolidated financial statements 
and the combined management report contained 
in the aforementioned file and prepared for the  
purpose of disclosure comply in all material respects 
with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB re-
garding the electronic reporting format. Other than  
this opinion and our opin  ons concerning the ac-
companying consolidated financial statements 
and the accompanying combined manage-
ment report for the financial year from 1 Janua-
ry to 31 December 2022 included in the “Report 
on the audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments and combined management report”  
above, we do not express any opinion on the  
information given in these reproductions or on the 
other information included in the aforementioned file. 
.

Basis for the audit opinion

We conducted our audit of the reproductions of the 
consolidated financial statements and the combined 
management report contained in the aforementioned 
file in accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB and the 
IDW Auditing Standard: Audit of electronic 
reproductions of financial statements and 
management reports prepared for disclosure purposes 
in accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB (IDW PS 410 
(06.2022)). Our responsibility in accordance with this 
standard is further described in the section “Auditor’s 
responsibility for the audit of the ESEF documents”. 
Our auditing practice has applied the quality 
assurance system requirements of the IDW Quality 
Assurance Standard: Requirements for quality 
assurance in auditing practice (IDW QS 1).

Management and Supervisory boards’ 
responsibility for the ESEF documents

The Company’s management is responsible for the 
preparation of the ESEF documents containing the 
electronic reproductions of the consolidated financial 
statements and the combined management report in 
accordance with Section 328 (1) Sentence 4 No. 1 
HGB and for the markups of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with Section 328 (1) 
Sentence 4 No. 2 HGB.

Furthermore, the Company’s management is 
responsible for such internal controls as they deem 
necessary in order to enable the preparation of ESEF 
documents that are free from material non-
compliance, whether due to fraud or error, with the 
electronic reporting format requirements of Section 
328 (1) HGB.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing 
the process of the preparation of the ESEF documents 
as part of the financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the ESEF 
documents

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the ESEF documentation is free from material 
non-compliance, whether due to fraud or error, with 
the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB. We exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: professional 
judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

•	 identify and assess the risks of material non-
compliance with the requirements of Section 328 
(1) HGB, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

•	 obtain an understanding of internal controls 
relevant to the audit of the ESEF documents in 
order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, albeit not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of those controls. 

•	 we assess the technical validity of the ESEF 
documentation, in other words, whether the file 
provided containing the ESEF documentation 
complies with the requirements of Delegated 
Regulation (EU) 2019/815 as amended as of the 
reporting date for the technical specification for 
that file. 

•	 we assess whether the ESEF documentation 
provides a consistent XHTML representation of the 
audited consolidated financial statements and of 
the audited combined management report. 

•	 assess whether the markup of the ESEF documents 
with inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) in accordance 
with Articles 4 and 6 of Delegated Regulation (EU) 
2019/815, as applicable as of the reporting date, 
prov ides  an  adequate  and  complete 
machinereadable XBRL copy of the XHTML 
rendition.

Further information pursuant to Article 10 of the 
EU Audit Regulation

We were elected as Group auditor by the Annual 
General Meeting on 2 June 2022. We were engaged 
by the Supervisory Board on 16 December 2022. We 
have served as auditors of the consolidated financial 
statements of va-Q-tec AG, Würzburg, Germany, 
without interruption since the 2014 financial year, 
during seven of which financial years the Company 
continuously met the definition of a public interest 
entity as defined in Section 316a Sentence 1 of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB).

We declare that the audit opinions expressed in this 
auditor’s report are consistent with the additional 
report to the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 
of the EU Audit Regulation (longform audit report).  
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OTHER MATTERS – USE OF THE AUDIT 
OPINION 

Our audit opinion should always be read in conjunction 
with the audited consolidated financial statements 
and the audited combined management report as 
well as the audited ESEF documents. The consolidated 
financial statements and combined management 
report converted into the ESEF format – including the 
versions to be entered in the company register – are 
merely electronic reproductions of the audited 
consolidated financial statements and the audited 
combined management report and do not replace 
them. In particular, the ESEF note and our audit 
opinion contained therein can only be used in 
conjunction with the audited ESEF documentation 
provided in electronic form.

NOTE ON THE SUPPLEMENTARY AUDIT

We express this opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements and the combined management report 
as well as on the electronic reproductions of 
the consolidated financial statements and the 
combined management report contained in the  
file [529900MHY0HTHX71DO39-2022-12-31-de.zip] 
submitted for audit for the first time and prepared 
for disclosure purposes based on our audit in 
accordance with our professional duties completed 
on 27 April 2023 and our supplementary audit 
completed on 20 June 2023, which related to the ESEF 
documentation submitted for the first time.

GERMAN PUBLIC AUDITOR RESPONSIBLE FOR 
THE ENGAGEMENT

The German Public Auditor responsible for the 
engagement is Mr. Felix Fehlauer.

Berlin, 27 April 2023 /  limited to the audit of the  
ESEF documents mentioned in the note on the 
supplementary audit: 20 June 2023

Rödl & Partner GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Storbeck
German Public Auditor

Fehlauer
German Public Auditor


